
City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

City of Palm Coast
Agenda

Planning and Land 
Development Regulation 

Board

Chairman Clinton Smith
Board Member James Albano

Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas
Board Member Jake Scully

Board Member Sandra Shank
Board Member Charles Lemon
Alternate Board Member Hung 

Hilton
Alternate Board Member Suzanne 

Nicholson
School Board Rep Patty Bott

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Wednesday, October 20, 2021     5:30 PM City Hall - Community Wing

RULES OF CONDUCT:

>Public comment will be allowed consistent with Senate Bill 50, codified at the laws of Florida, 2013 – 227, creating Section 286.0114,
Fla. Stat. (with an effective date of October 1, 2013). The public will be given a reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition
before the City’s Planning & Land Development Regulation Board, subject to the exceptions provided in
§286.0114(3), Fla. Stat.

>Public comment on issues on the agenda or public participation shall be limited to 3 minutes.

> All public comments shall be directed through the podium. All parties shall be respectful of other persons’ ideas and opinions.
Clapping, cheering, jeering, booing, catcalls, and other forms of disruptive behavior from the audience are not permitted.

>If any person decides to appeal a decision made by the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board with respect to any matter
considered at such meeting or hearing, he/she may want a record of the proceedings, including all testimony and evidence upon which
the appeal is to be based. To that end, such person will want to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made.

>If you wish to obtain more information regarding Planning and Land Development Regulation’s Agenda, please contact the
Community Development Department at 386-986-3736.

>In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should
contact the City Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

>The City of Palm Coast is not responsible for any mechanical failure of recording equipment

>All pagers and cell phones are to remain OFF while the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board is in session.

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance

Roll Call and Determination of a Quorum

Approval of Meeting Minutes

1 MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 15, 2021  PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT 

1



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

REGULATION BOARD MEETING

Public Hearings

2 STOUTENBURG BOATHOUSE ROOF VARIANCE - APPLICATION # 4870

3 SABAL PALMS PHASE 2 - TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2 - APPLICATION # 4780

4 REZONING GRAND LANDINGS NORTH - APPLICATION #4873

5 AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- ACRES OF 
PROPERTY FROM RESIDENTIAL LOW-DENSITY AND CONSERVATION (COUNTY 
DESIGNATIONS) TO RESIDENTIAL AND CONSERVATION (CITY DESIGNATIONS) ALONG 
WITH POLICY TO LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO 217UNITS

6 AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- ACRES FROM COUNTY 
DESIGNATION OF PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) TO CITY DESIGNATION OF 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1 (SFR-1) AND PRESERVATION (PRS)

Board Discussion and Staff Issues

7 ELECTION OF A VICE CHAIR TO THE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATION BOARD 

Adjournment

2



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: October 20, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount
Item Key 12247 Account 

#

Subject MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 15, 2021 PLANNING AND LAND 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD MEETING

Presenter: Irene Schaefer, Recording Secretary 

Background:

Recommended Action:
Approve as presented.

3



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

City of Palm Coast
Minutes

Planning and Land 
Development Regulation 

Board
Chairman Clinton Smith

Board Member James Albano
Board Member Sybil Dodson-

Lucas
Board Member Jake Scully

Board Member Sandra Shank
Board Member Charles Lemon
Alternate Board Member Hung 

Hilton
Alternate Board Member Suzanne 

Nicholson
School Board Rep Patty Bott

City Hall
160 Lake Avenue

Palm Coast, FL 32164
www.palmcoastgov.com

Wednesday, September 15, 2021                                                                                                                   5:30 PM City Hall - Community Wing

RULES OF CONDUCT:

>Public comment will be allowed consistent with Senate Bill 50, codified at the laws of Florida, 2013 – 227, creating Section 286.0114, 
Fla. Stat. (with an effective date of October 1, 2013). The public will be given a reasonable opportunity to be heard on a proposition 
before the City’s Planning & Land Development Regulation Board, subject to the exceptions provided in
§286.0114(3), Fla. Stat.

>Public comment on issues on the agenda or public participation shall be limited to 3 minutes.

> All public comments shall be directed through the podium. All parties shall be respectful of other persons’ ideas and opinions. 
Clapping, cheering, jeering, booing, catcalls, and other forms of disruptive behavior from the audience are not permitted.

>If any person decides to appeal a decision made by the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board with respect to any matter 
considered at such meeting or hearing, he/she may want a record of the proceedings, including all testimony and evidence upon which 
the appeal is to be based. To that end, such person will want to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made.

>If you wish to obtain more information regarding Planning and Land Development Regulation’s Agenda, please contact the 
Community Development Department at 386-986-3736.

>In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should 
contact the City Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.

>The City of Palm Coast is not responsible for any mechanical failure of recording equipment

>All pagers and cell phones are to remain OFF while the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board is in session.

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance

Present and responding to roll call were the following:
Board Member: Clinton Smith

Sybil Dodson-Lucas
Charles Lemon

4



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

Suzanne Nicholson
Sandra Shank
James Albano

Absent
Board Member: Jake Scully

Hung Hilton
Also Present:
School Board Representative: Patty Bott

Roll Call and Determination of a Quorum

Chair Smith called the September 15, 2021 Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board (PLDRB) meeting to order at 5:30PM.

Approval of Meeting Minutes

1 MEETING MINUTES OF THE AUGUST 18, 2021 PLANNING AND LAND 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD MEETING 

Pass
Motion made to approve as presented  by Board Member Dodson-Lucas 
and seconded by Board Member Albano

Approved - 6 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board 
Member Sandra Shank, Board Member James Albano

Public Hearings

2 AMENDMENT TO THE TOWN CENTER DEVELOPMENT OF REGIONAL IMPACT - 
DEVELOPMENT ORDER 

Chair Smith opened this item due to statutory advertisement requirements and 
the application has been withdrawn. 

Motion made to withdraw  

3 AMENDMENT TO THE TOWN CENTER PUD-AGREEMENT 

Chair Smith opened this item due to statutory advertisement requirements and 
the application has been withdrawn. 

Motion made to withdraw  by 

5



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

4 SPECIAL EXCEPTION VEDIC MOONS – METAPHYSICAL & SPRITUAL 
WELLNESS SHOP SPECIAL EXCEPTION - APPLICATION # 4845 

Mr. Ray Tyner, Deputy Chief Development Officer provided background 
regarding the special exception and introduced Ms. Estelle Lens, Planner who 
gave a presentation which is attached to this record.

The applicant Erica Bautista addressed the PLDRB members regarding her 
proposed business plans.

Mrs. Lucas inquired about any types of training that would be necessary for Ms. 
Bautista to operate the requested services. Ms. Bautista stated that the training 
for tartot readings consist of 300 hours working one on one with other people. 

Chair Smith opened this item to public comment at 5:40PM and seeing no one 
approach the podium, he closed this item to public comment at 5:41PM. 

Pass
Motion made to approve as presented  by Board Member Lemon and 
seconded by Board Member Albano

Approved - 6 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board 
Member Sandra Shank, Board Member James Albano

5 TECHNICAL SITE PLAN STORAGE KING USA - TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2 - 
APPLICATION # 4662 

Mr. Ray Tyner, Deputy Chief Development Officer provided information on the 
background of the Development of Regional Impact (DRI) for the Town Center  
and introduced Ms. Estelle Lens, Planner who gave a presentation which is 
attached to this record.

Mr. Brett Turner, CPH Engineers, representing the owner gave a presentation 
which is attached to this record.  Mr. Tyner added that he wanted to commend 
the applicant for working with the adjacent property owner to make the joint 
stormwater pond and access between parcels work for this development and the 
future application from the adjacent property owner. 

Chair Smith opened this item to public comment at 5:55PM and seeing no one 
approach the podium, he closed this item to public comment at 5:56PM.

Mr. Tyner mentioned for clarification to the PLDRB members that the 
architectural condition would be removed from the Development Order as the 
Town Center Architectural Review Committee had approved the plan.  Only the 

6



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

access easement would remain as a condition on the Development Order for this 
project. 

Pass
Motion made to approve as presented  by Board Member Shank and 
seconded by Board Member Albano

Approved - 6 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board 
Member Sandra Shank, Board Member James Albano

6 SUBDIVISION MASTER PLAN SAWMILL BRANCH @PALM COAST PARK PHASE 
7, A SUBDIVISION MASTER PLAN, APPLICATION # 4798 

Mr. Ray Tyner, Deputy Chief Development Officer, provided background on the 
steps in the platting process including the Subdivsion Master Plan being step 1, 
followed by a Preliminary Plat which are reviewed by PLDRB and finally a Final 
Plat which would be reviewed by City Council.  He also introduced Ms. Estelle 
Lens, Planner who gave a presentation which is attached to this record. 

Mr. William Schaefer, representing the applicant, addressed the PLDRB with 
regard to the construction and phasing plans for this proposed adult community.
  
Mr. Albano asked about a traffic light being added at the Old Kings Rd. and US 
#1 intersection. Mr. Schaefer stated that an access management plan was 
reviewed with the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) and a fully 
signalized intersection at that location is planned.  The engineering plans for the 
access management plan along US #1 is currently under review with FDOT in 
order for the development to be issued the permits they will need. Mr. Schaefer 
discussed that the project is an active adult community - over age 55 and the 
plans for the proposed 30 acre school site. 

Ms. Nicholson asked about the price range of the units. Mr. Schaefer stated he 
did not know however that the units would be very similiar to the product built at 
Sawmill Creek. Mr. Lemon asked about the density for the overall project and 
Mr. Schaefer mentioned that the phase 7 is single family development but phase 
6 is a multifamily development.   Mr. Albano questioned that phase 7 would 
include an amenity center and Mr. Schaefer indicated yes and described the 
proposed amenities.  Ms. Nicholson asked about the age restictions on the entire 
development with the exception of the townhomes and Mr. Schaefer stated that 
phase 7 will be age restricted and it was not clear about the plans for phase 6 at 
this time. 

Chair Smith opened this item to public comment at 6:08PM.  Ms. Bonnie 
Pennington, 75 Lake Success Drive addressed the PLDRB regarding Chair 
Smith's relationship as a consultant to the management company of the Town 
Center DRI and the Palm Coast Park DRI and asked Chair Smith and the City 
Attorney, Katie Reischmann to address her questions regarding appropriateness 
of that relationship as it relates to voting matters for projects involving these two 

7



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

sites.  Chair Smith stated that he does not work for this developer and has no 
financial relationship with the developer.  Chair Smith stated that he does work 
for the Palm Coast Park CDD which maintains some of the infrastructure out 
there (Palm Coast Park). Ms. Reischmann addressed Ms. Pennington's question 
by stating that the law requires all board members to vote on every matter, 
unless that board member has a pecuniary gain or lost to the vote in question.  It 
is very specifically defined in the statute. Mr. Albano made a comment that he 
has known Chair Smith for 35 years and he would be the first person to recuse 
himself if he needed to (do that). Seeing no one else approach the podium, Chair 
Smith closed this item to public comment at 6:12PM. 

Pass
Motion made to approve as presented  by Board Member Albano and 
seconded by Alternate Board Member Nicholson

Approved - 6 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board 
Member Sandra Shank, Board Member James Albano

7 ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION 
FOR 37.7+/- ACRES OF PROPERTY FROM MIXED USE AND UNDESIGNATED TO 
RESIDENTIAL AND SITE SPECIFIC POLICY TO LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO 3 
DWELLING UNITS/ACRE 

Mr. Ray Tyner, Deputy Community Development Officer requested permission to 
present agenda items #7 and #8 together as companion items.  Chair Smith 
agreed however two separate votes would be required.  Mr. Tyner gave a 
background on this project regarding the public private partnership (City is a joint 
applicant)  involved in this project to extend Citation Blvd. through the property, 
which will address public safety improvements.  Mr. Tyner also introduced Mr. 
Jose Papa, Senior Planner, who gave a presentation which is attached to this 
record.

Mr. Jay Livingston, representing the applicant, addressed the PLDRB and gave 
a presentation which is attached to this record. Mr. Tyner addressed the 
stormwater ponds that are part of the project which gives the City potential 
additional capacity and the design solutions used by the developer to give each 
parcel their own backyard. 

Ms. Bott asked the applicant to add a provision for a bus stop and Mr. Livingston 
stated that there is a provision in the Master Planned Development (MPD) 
agreement to work with Flagler Schools to determine the best location  for a 
school bus stop. 

Mr. Albano inquired about the timing on Phase 1A and 1B.  Mr. Livingston stated 
that phase 1A will start in the July 2022 timeframe, it is depended on getting the 
base flood elevation determined and getting the roadway design done and bid 
out. Phase 1B is based on Citation Blvd. being in place, as it gives access to 
Phase IB homesites. 

8



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

Chair Smith asked about the rendering for the lot sizes which may not match the 
color chart (colors are backwards). Mr. Livingston mentioned that the rendering 
is a place holder.  Chair Smith asked about construction to Citation Blvd. to the 
southwest continuing and Mr. Livingston stated that construction would stop at 
this owners’ property line. Mr. Livingston stated that the City is in negotiations 
with that property owner and if the Right of Way (ROW) is available it will be built 
at the same time as the road. 

Ms. Shank asked if the project would be age restricted and Mr. Livingston stated 
that it would not, in addition Mr. Livingston added that the applicant has 
sumbitted their impact determination for all the units to the Flagler School Board.  
Ms. Shank asked about the deversity of homes types and choices. Mr. 
Livingston mentioned that the reason that they are asking for an MPD is to allow 
for the 40 foot lot option which would not be available under the City's straight 
zoning.  In addition, the project is providing a townhouse hybrid multifamily 
option.  Ms. Shank asked if the project will be workforce housing.  Mr. Livingston 
stated this project is in the zoning phase and that the pricing strategy would be 
market driven. Mr. Albano asked about the square footage of the homes, and Mr. 
Livingston stated the minimum is 1,200 feet. The final product type has not been 
determined yet.   Mr. Albano asked if the Land Development Code (LDC) allows 
a 20 ft. wide home.  Mr. Papa stated that the LDC limits the wide to 25 ft. 
however as an MPD the developer may create their own standard. 

Chair Smith opened this item to public comment at 6:50PM and seeing no one 
approach the podium, he closed this item to public comment at 6:51PM. 

Pass
Motion made to Recommend Approval including the 3 dwelling units per 
acre limitation requested by staff by Board Member Albano and seconded 
by Board Member Nicholson

Approved - 6 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board 
Member Sandra Shank, Board Member James Albano

8 ORDINANCE 2021-XX AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR 239.6+/- 
ACRES FROM SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1, GENERAL COMMERCIAL (COM-
2, PUBLIC/SEMIPUBLIC (PSP) TO MASTER PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (MPD) 

This item was presented under agenda item #7 by Mr. Jose Papa, Senior 
Planner. 

Chair Smith opened this item to public comment at 6:52PM and seeing no one 
approach the podium, he closed this item to public comment at 6:53PM. 

Pass
Motion made to Recommend Approval  by Board Member Shank and 
seconded by Board Member Dodson-Lucas

9



City of Palm Coast Created on 10/14/21

Approved - 6 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board 
Member Sandra Shank, Board Member James Albano

Board Discussion and Staff Issues

Mr. Albano inquired about the logo on the staff's PowerPoint presentation.  Mr. 
Tyner stated that he is not aware that it is the new City logo but it will be the one 
used for staff's PowerPoint presentations. 

Chair Smith questioned the status of filling the open position on the PLDRB. Mr. 
Tyner mentioned that they did receive some applications but are limited to the 
voting district of the applicant in regard to the PLDRB ordinance requiring all 
voting districts by represented. Mr. Tyner stated that they would be again 
advertising the opening and informing all our Citizen Academy Alumnae of this 
opening.

Chair Smith mentioned that he would not be here for the Novermber PLDRB 
meeting and Mr. Tyner suggested we add the election of a Vice Chair person to 
the October PLDRB meeting. 

Adjournment

Motion made that the meeting be adjourned by Ms. Shank and the motion was 
seconded by Mrs. Lucas. The meeting was adjourned at 6:55PM.

Respectfully Submitted by:
Irene Schaefer & Jacqueline Gonzalez
Recording Secretary 

Pass
Motion made to approve  by Board Member Shank and seconded by Board 
Member Dodson-Lucas

Approved - 6 - Chairman Clinton Smith, Board Member Sybil Dodson-Lucas, 
Board Member Charles Lemon, Board Member Suzanne Nicholson, Board 
Member Sandra Shank, Board Member James Albano

10



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: October 20, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount
Item Key 12287 Account 

#

Subject STOUTENBURG BOATHOUSE ROOF VARIANCE - APPLICATION # 4870

Presenter: Estelle Lens, Planner 

Background: 

This boathouse roof variance is a quasi-judicial matter.

A request for a Variance to allow a 45 foot roof over a dock at 17 Coolidge Court. The maximum 
allowable roof over a dock is 34 feet for the subject property (70 foot lot). 
Gregory L. and Suzette K. Stoutenburg purchased 17 Coolidge Court on April 28, 2017. Their 
Contractor, Agua Construction, applied for a permit to construct a Deck and Boat Slip, which 
was approved on October 31, 2019. On April 1, 2020, the contractor submitted a revision to the 
permit to add a roof over the dock. The revision contained plans for a 40 foot roof, which 
exceeds the maximum length allowed by code, and was not approved. The revision was put on 
hold. 

The Land Development Code regulates the size of roofs over docks on saltwater canals 
according to the frontage on the canal. The subject property is 70 feet wide on the canal. The 
code allows:
Chapter 4 – Section 4.01.05. Residential Docking Facilities. B.4. Roofs. f:

The maximum length of roofs located over a dock slip, dock lift, or water on saltwater 
canals shall be 26 feet of dock roof for the first 60 feet of property frontage, plus four feet 
of roof length for every five feet of property frontage thereafter, not to exceed 46 feet. 

The subject property is 70 feet wide: 26 feet for the first 60 feet, plus 8 feet (four feet for 
each five feet over 60 feet) = 34 feet maximum roof length.

The contractor submitted a correction, and reduced the length of the roof to 34 feet. The 
corrected roof length was approved. The Contractor handwrote on the approved site 
plan…”Roof 34’ Max on this Lot”. However, the contractor constructed a 45 foot roof.

The applicant requested a 6 foot variance for a 40 foot roof. Staff obtained permission to 
measure the roof. It measures 45 feet, requiring a variance of 11 feet to the maximum 34 foot 
roof length allowed by code. The applicant is revising their application to request an 11 foot 
variance.

Findings: Planning staff finds that the variance request application number 4870 does not meet 
the following variance criteria:

1. Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, use, or

11



building involved and which are not applicable to other lands, uses, or buildings in the 
same zoning district.

2. The special conditions and circumstances are not self-imposed and do not result from 
the actions of the applicant.

3. Literal interpretation of the provision of this LDC would deprive the applicant of rights 
commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning district under the terms of this 
LDC and would work unnecessary and undue hardship on the applicant.

4. The variance is the minimum relief necessary that will make possible the reasonable use 
of the land or building.

5. The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of 
this LDC and that such variance will not be injurious to the area involved or otherwise 
detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare or injurious to other property in the 
area.

Recommended Action :
Planning staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
(PLDRB) deny the variance of 11 feet to allow a 45 foot roof over a dock at 17 Coolidge Court. 

 

12



 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

STOUTENBURG BOATHOUSE ROOF LENGTH VARIANCE STAFF REPORT 

PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD  

 OCTOBER 20, 2021 

OVERVIEW 

Project # 4870 
Agent: Jay Livingston, Esq. 
Property Description: 17 Coolidge Court 
Owner & Applicant:   Gregory L. & Suzette K. Stoutenburg 
FLUM Designation:   Residential 
Zoning Designation: Single-Family Residential – 2 (SFR-2)  
Current Use: Single-family home  
Property Tax ID:    07-11-31-7004-00190-0130 
Property Location: 17 Coolidge Court 

Requested Action: Variance for boathouse roof length 

ANALYSIS 

REQUESTED ACTION 

A Variance to allow a 45 foot roof over a dock at 17 Coolidge Ct. The maximum allowable roof over a 
dock is 34 feet for the subject property (70 foot lot).  

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY 

The initial application requested that the roof be allowed to be 40 feet in length, exceeding the maximum 
length allowed by the Land Development Code by 6 feet. The boathouse roof has been constructed 
and the actual-measured length of the roof is 45 feet, making it 11 feet over the maximum allowable 
length.   

The Land Development Code (LDC) regulation regarding the length of roofs located over a dock slip, 
dock lift, or water on a saltwater canal was adopted by City Council with Ordinance No. 26 on December 
15, 2009. Section 4.01.05.B.4.f. states: 
 

The maximum length of roofs located over a dock slip, dock lift, or water on saltwater canals 
shall be 26 feet of dock roof for the first 60 feet of property frontage, plus four feet of roof length 
for every five feet of property frontage thereafter, not to exceed 46 feet.  
 

13



                      App. #4870 

2 
 

The following timeline provides the dates pertaining to the permit and boathouse roof length which are 
the subject matter of this variance: 

April 28, 2017: Gregory and Suzette Stoutenburg (Owners) purchased 17 Coolidge Court. 

October 15, 2019: Agua Construction (Contractor), hired by the owners, applied for a building permit to 
construct a 12’ X 12’ Deck with 13’ X 28’ Boat Slip. (See Exhibit 1 – Permit Application.)  

October 31, 2019: Permit number 2019100614 was approved. (See Exhibit 2 – Issued Permit and 
Exhibit 3 – Approved site plan for deck and boat slip.) The submitted documents had a 28 foot “wood 
beam for future roof” included in the drawings. (See Exhibit 4 – Plan sheet.) However, roof plans were 
not submitted with this permit. It was approved as a dock and boat slip, not a boathouse with a roof. It 
should be noted that a 28 foot roof would be approved as it falls within what is allowed by code for the 
subject property.  

April 1, 2020:  Contractor submitted a revision to the permit to add a roof. (See Exhibit 5 – Revision 
Form.) The plans submitted with the revision were for a 40’ roof. (See Exhibit 6 – Plan Sheet showing 
a 40 foot roof.) This revision was put on hold the same day (See Exhibit 7 – Hold comment) by the 
Zoning Supervisor stating:  

“As per the Land Development Code: 
Roof lengths shall not exceed 34 feet on lots 70 to 74.9 feet of water frontage.  This lot is 70'. 
Permit application must be revised from dock to boat house if a roof is being installed. 
Site plan must indicate location of proposed roof and its dimensions and also demonstrate that 
it does not exceed the maximum allowable projection into the waterbody.” 

 
Hold comments are sent to the contractor immediately by the permitting software.  
 
July 2, 2020: Contractor submitted a correction to his revision. (See Exhibit 8 – Revision Form stating 
“Updated plans and site plans”.) The roof on the resubmitted plans was reduced to 34 feet. (See Exhibit 
9 – Plan sheet showing a 34’ roof.) Contractor also submitted a revised site plan showing a 34’ roof and 
hand wrote on the site plan …”roof 34’ max on this lot.” (See Exhibit 10 – Approved site plan.)  
The applicant is claiming that the plan sheet showing a 40 foot roof was approved. It was not approved 
and was put on hold. As illustrated in the following timeline, and on Exhibit 11, the contractor was aware 
that the 40’ roof length did not meet code, was NOT APPROVED, and was put on hold awaiting 
correction. The Contractor submitted a corrected plan sheet for a 34’ roof. The plan sheet showing a 
34’ roof was APPROVED. Exhibit 11 - Screen shots from CD Plus, shows the dates of the revision, 
hold comment, corrected resubmission, and permit approval. It clearly shows: 
 

04-01-2020: Revision was submitted for a 40’ roof 

04-01-2020: Permit put on hold because roof was too large. 

07-02-2020: Revision submitted for 34’ roof 

07-02-2020: Revised plans and site plan approved by Zoning.  
 

January 4, 2021: Permit expired. (Permits expire six months after no activity.) Both Contractor and 
Owners were notified multiple times that the permit was going to expire and that it had expired. 
 
March 1, 2021: Owners emailed their City Council Member and advised that the boathouse was 
already built, the contractor “…did not get proper approvals from the city and that the boathouse is not 
built to code.” The email stated: “We understand that that the roof is 6’ too long.” They asked for some 
other remedy other than tearing down the boathouse. (See Exhibit 12 – Email from Owners to 

14



                      App. #4870 

3 
 

Council Member.) This email was forwarded to the City Manager, who forwarded it to the Director of 
Community Development, the Chief Building Official, and the Code Enforcement Manager. 

March 5, 2021: Code Enforcement Manager responded to the Owner’s email (See Exhibit 13 – 
Email). Attached to the email was the approved site plan and the City’s Engineering Design Standards 
for maximum roof lengths within Palm Coast saltwater canals (See Exhibit 14 – Excerpt from the 
Technical Manual). The email also included the standards from the Land Development Code that the 
applicant would have to meet to qualify for a variance.  

March 16, 2021: Code Enforcement Action Order 2021030575 was started. The Alleged Violation 
was: BOAT HOUSE/DOCK BUILT OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF THE PERMIT (OVERSIZED). 

May 21, 2021: The Building Permit Supervisor scheduled a “Project Status Inspection” due to the 
expired status of the permit. The inspector visited the site and entered a note in the system:  “Verified 
by applicant boathouse is erected and completed. Applicant made aware a new permit is required”.   

May 21, 2021: Contractor emailed city staff advising that they were putting the paperwork together for 
a variance 

May 21, 2021: Responding to email(s) from Contractor, the Permitting Supervisor advised Contractor 
that the permit was expired and that a new permit was required to be in compliance with city code. 
(See Exhibit 15 - Email.) 

August 18, 2021: Code Enforcement case opened. Property was posted with a Notice of Violation 
which was also sent certified mail to Owners. The violation is for: NO PERMIT, OVERSIZED ROOF 
OVER DOCK. The property owner was given 30 days to bring the issue into compliance. To do so, a 
new permit must be obtained and the roof length has to be reduced to a maximum of 34 feet.  

September 1, 2021: Applicant applied for a variance for a 40 foot roof over a dock, requesting that the 
roof, which exceeds the maximum length by 6 feet, be allowed to remain. 

September 13, 2021: Code Enforcement obtained permission to measure the roof. The actual roof 
length is 45 feet, not 40 feet.  

September 28, 2021: Applicant was advised that the roof measures 45 feet. The applicant revised the 
application request from a 6 foot to an 11 foot variance. 
 
 
LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CRITERIA  
 

As stated previously, the following is the LDC criteria for docking facility roof lengths. 

Chapter 4 – Section 4.01.05. Residential Docking Facilities. B.4. Roofs. f: 
The maximum length of roofs located over a dock slip, dock lift, or water on saltwater canals 
shall be 26 feet of dock roof for the first 60 feet of property frontage, plus four feet of roof length 
for every five feet of property frontage thereafter, not to exceed 46 feet.  
The subject property is 70 feet wide: 26 feet for the first 60 feet, plus 8 feet (four feet for each 
five feet over 60 feet) = 34 feet maximum roof length. 

 
Property Frontage  Maximum roof 

length allowed 
Roof Length 
Requested 

Variance 
requested 

Roof length as 
measured 

Variance 
required 

70’ 34’ 40’ 6’ 45’ 11’ 
 

15



                      App. #4870 

4 
 

 

 

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION 
 

SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES: 
  NORTH: FLUM:  Residential 

  Zoning:  SFR-2 

  Use:  Single-family home 

     EAST: FLUM:  Residential 

Zoning: SFR-2 

Use:                Single-family home 

 SOUTH: FLUM:            Residential 

Zoning: SFR-2 

Use: Single-family home 

   WEST:         FLUM:     Residential 

Zoning:           SFR-2 

Use:  Single-family homes 

 

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CHAPTER 2 SECTION 
2.05.05   

The Unified Land Development Code (LDC), Chapter 2, and Part II, Section 2.05.05 states: When 
reviewing a development order application, the approval authority shall determine whether sufficient 
factual data was presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a development order 
shall be based upon the following, including but not limited to: 

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest; 

Staff Finding:  The boathouse roof subject to this variance request exceeds the maximum allowed roof 
length by 11 feet and is contrary to what other home owners are allowed to construct on their property. 
Any deviation of the Land Development Code without adequate justification can be considered contrary 
to the public interest. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the provisions of 
this LDC; 

Staff Finding: Although the Comprehensive Plan (Plan) does not specifically address variances, the 
Plan does provide for Objectives and Policies that promote the general character and quality of life. For 
example, Policy 1.1.5.1 stipulates that the LDC shall include regulations and standards for all applicable 
zoning districts, including setback standards for primary and accessory structures.  

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the City; 

16



                      App. #4870 

5 
 

Staff Findings: Should the owners be granted a Variance, no significant financial liability or hardship 
will be created for the City.  

D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or constitute a 
threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants; 

Staff Finding: As previously indicated in this staff report, the building permit has expired. A final 
inspection by the Building Division has not been completed, which is necessary in order to determine if 
the roof meets Florida Building Code requirements. Therefore, we cannot determine if there is a hazard 
or a safety concern for the city’s inhabitants. Additionally, the roof may be considered a nuisance as it 
is significantly larger than boathouse roofs on neighboring properties, and may impede the view of the 
canal for neighboring properties.  

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and federal laws, 
statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes; 

Staff Finding: If the variance is granted, the applicant will apply for a new building permit to ensure 
compliance with the Florida Building Code. 
 
 
ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE SECTION 2.12.03  
 
In addition to the findings listed in Subsection 2.05.05 for all development orders, variance applications 
shall be reviewed based on the following: 
 

A. No application for a variance shall be approved unless the Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board finds that the following standards are met, recognizing that the applicant bears 
the burden of proof. 
 

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE STAFF ANALYSIS PROVIDES THE APPLICANT’S JUSTIFICATION 
FOLLOWED BY PLANNING STAFF’S FINDINGS. THE FOLLOWING ARE THE FIVE STANDARDS:  

 
1. Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, use, or 
building involved and which are not applicable to other lands, uses, or buildings in the same 
zoning district; and  
 

Applicant Justification: 
“The Stoutenburgs relied on the professional advice of Agua, who was hired as 
their general contractor. Agua relied on the permitting process they were familiar 
with, which was changed after the permit was approved and the boathouse and 
roof were constructed.   This is a situation peculiar to the Stoutenburgs boathouse  
that will not be repeated now that the permitting process has been changed.” 

 
Planning Staff Finding:  The permit process was not changed after the permit was approved and 
the boathouse roof was constructed. There are no special conditions or circumstances which are 
peculiar to this situation and this standard for approval of a variance is not met. For example, the lot on 
which the boathouse was constructed is a standard lot with no abnormal dimensional constraints that 
would prohibit the applicant from meeting code requirements. 
 
 
 
 

17



                      App. #4870 

6 
 

2.  The special conditions and circumstances are not self-imposed and do not result from 
the actions of the applicant: and 
 

 
Applicant Justification: 
“The Stoutenburgs relied on the expertise and advice of Agua.   The  details shown 
on the approved permit plans, as well as Agua's failure  to  notify them that there 
was a problem until over 7 months after the boathouse and roof were completed, 
made it impossible for them to fix the situation until it was too late. The COVID-
19 pandemic also made it especially difficult to discover and resolve this problem   
in a timely matter. All of these factors were beyond their control and not self- 
imposed.” 

 
Planning Staff Finding:  This standard is not met as the conditions are self-imposed. The Owners 
hired a contractor to act on their behalf and obtain a permit as their authorized agent. The Contractor 
was aware of the required roof length. The Contractor built a roof that exceeds what was approved on 
the permit and what is permitted by the LDC, and then failed to correct the length of the roof to match 
the approved site plan.  

3. Literal interpretation of the provision of this LDC would deprive the applicant of rights 
commonly enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning district under the terms of this LDC 
and would work unnecessary and undue hardship on the applicant: and 
 

Applicant Justification: 
“Literal interpretation of the code would result in an unnecessary and undue 
hardship by requiring the Stoutenburgs to pay more for a boathouse than the 
docks and boathouses enjoyed by other residents along the saltwater canals in the 
neighborhood. In addition, the Stoutenburgs are not asking for a variance that 
exceeds the maximum roof length permitted by the code.  The roof, as constructed 
is 40', which is 6' shorter than the maximum permitted length.” 

 
Planning Staff Finding:  
This standard is not met as owners of similar 70 foot lots have built, and are able to build, boathouse 
roofs that meet the criteria outlined in the Land Development Code. The applicant can enjoy the rights 
of other property owners in the same zoning district and have their boathouse meet the City’s 
regulations. Additionally, the roof “as constructed”, is 45 feet long, not 40 feet, and exceeds the 
maximum permitted length by 11 feet on this lot. 
  
4. The variance is the minimum relief necessary that will make possible the reasonable use 
of the land or building; and 
 

Applicant Justification: 
“The requested variance is not asking for any additional construction or deviation 
from the provisions of the code.  As stated above, it is also not requesting approval 
of a roof that exceeds the maximum permitted length for roofs.  It is simply asking 
for permission to allow what was already constructed to remain so the permit, as 
originally approved, can be completed and the boathouse can receive its final 
inspection and approval from the City.” 

 
 
 

18



                      App. #4870 

7 
 

Planning Staff Finding:  Granting the variance would allow a boathouse roof, which was built without 
a permit, and which exceeds the maximum roof length permitted (for lots this size), to remain. The roof 
was built with the Contractor’s knowledge that the length was not allowed by code. The fact that the 
Contractor revised his permit and wrote, in his handwriting on the revised site plan, that the roof would 
not exceed 34 feet, demonstrates that the Contractor knew the roof was not allowed by code. Correcting 
the error so that the boathouse roof length complies with the 34 foot roof, which is the maximum length 
allowed, and which was approved, would be the minimum relief necessary to bring the boathouse into 
compliance and will make possible the reasonable use of the land or building. This standard for variance 
approval is not met. 
 
5. The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of 
this LDC and that such variance will not be injurious to the area involved or otherwise 
detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare or injurious to other property in the area. 
 

Applicant Justification: 
“The boathouse and roof do not exceed required setbacks or other zoning 
requirements. It is in harmony with the other houses along the saltwater canal and 
will not be injurious or detrimental to the public health, safety, and welfare of other 
properties in the area.” 

 
Planning Staff Finding:  Granting the variance would not be detrimental to the public health, safety 
and welfare. However, this standard is not met, as allowing the boathouse to remain as constructed 
would not be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of the LDC. As stated previously, the 
length of the boathouse roof does not meet zoning requirements. Allowing it to remain may be 
considered injurious to the area, as other property owners with similar lots with 70 feet of frontage on a 
canal cannot build a boathouse roof of 45 feet.  
 
 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Unified Land Development Code Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.07 requires that applicants notify abutting 
property owners of the PLDRB meeting date at least 14 days in advance of the public hearing.  The 
required letter notifications to the eight abutting property owners were sent via Certified Mail on October 
6, 2021 to meet this standard. Neither the LDC nor state law requires signs to be posted or newspaper 
ads to be placed. Additionally, no Neighborhood Meeting is required for Variance applications.  
 
FINDINGS 
 
Planning staff finds that the variance request application number 4870 does not meet the following 
variance criteria: 

1. Special conditions and circumstances exist which are peculiar to the land, use, or building 
involved and which are not applicable to other lands, uses, or buildings in the same zoning 
district. 

2. The special conditions and circumstances are not self-imposed and do not result from the 
actions of the applicant. 

3. Literal interpretation of the provision of this LDC would deprive the applicant of rights commonly 
enjoyed by other properties in the same zoning district under the terms of this LDC and would 
work unnecessary and undue hardship on the applicant. 

4. The variance is the minimum relief necessary that will make possible the reasonable use of the 
land or building. 

5. The granting of the variance will be in harmony with the general intent and purpose of this LDC 
and that such variance will not be injurious to the area involved or otherwise detrimental to the 
public health, safety, and welfare or injurious to other property in the area. 

19



                      App. #4870 

8 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Planning Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board deny the 
variance of 11 feet to allow a 45 foot boathouse roof, Application No. 4870. 
 

20



21

COPC APPROVED: 10/31/2019,  PERMIT #: 2019100614

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 1 - Permit application for deck and boat slip



PERMIT
BOATHOUSE

11/08/2019Issued Date:

2019100614Permit #:

Job description: 12 X 12 FT DECK W/28 FT BOATSLIP & LIFT

Building Code Edition   

AGUA CONSTRUCTION COMPANY Applicant DBA:

386-931-0008Job Phone #

CONTRACTORApplicant Type:

DANIEL OSVALDO PRIOTTI Applicant Name:

SECTION 4-COUNTRY CLUB COVESubdivision:0130Lot:00190Block:

17  COOLIDGE CT  Address:

Legal Description: Section: 07

Additional Information

SYSTEM NOTE: Action order for this Expired Permit created # 2021010014

CDPR2020

Asbestos Notification Statement: Each building permit for the demolition or renovation of an existing structure
shall comply with Section 469.003 Florida Statutes, and notify the Department of Environmental Protection of his
or her intentions to remove asbestos, when applicable, in accordance with state and federal law.  

In addition to the requirements in this permit, there may be additional restrictions applicable to this property that
may be found in the records of Flagler County, and there may be additional permits required from other
governmental entities such as water management’s districts, state agencies, or federal agencies.  
F.S. 553.79 (10)

WARNING TO OWNER: YOUR FAILURE TO RECORD A NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT MAY
RESULT IN YOUR PAYING TWICE FOR IMPROVEMENTS TO YOUR PROPERTY. A NOTICE OF
COMMENCEMENT MUST BE RECORDED AND POSTED ON THE JOBSITE AND PROVIDED TO
THE BUILDING DEPARTMENT BEFORE THE FIRST INSPECTION. IF YOU INTEND TO OBTAIN
FINANCING CONSULT WITH YOUR LENDER OR AN ATTORNEY BEFORE RECORDING YOUR
NOTICE OF COMMENCEMENT.

22

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 2 - Issued permit - deck and boatslip



Permit # 2019100614 
Zoning Approval  
12'x12' Dock with 13'x28' Boat Slip 
10/31/19  TD

23

COPC APPROVED: 10/31/2019,  PERMIT #: 2019100614

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 3 - Approved site plan for Dock and Boatslip



24

elens
Oval

elens
Text Box
28'

elens
Line

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 4 - Plan sheet showing 28' Wood Beam for Future Roof



   
 

 

 

 
Revision - Submission Form 

Instructions:  This sheet must be filled out completely in order to route your 

information Submitted properly.  “See attached” and incomplete forms will result in a 

slower processing of this submission.    

 
 
 

 

Document Type  

 

 

 

Contractor DBA /Applicant  

Job Address  

Phone Number  Permit Number  

 

 

 

Please Select Required Reviewing Departments 

Electrical  ☐ Mechanical  ☐ Plumbing  ☐ Building  ☐ Fire  ☐  

Landscape  ☐ Zoning  ☐ Utility   ☐ Stormwater  ☐ Engineering  ☐ Flood Plain  ☐ 

 

 

 

Brief Description of Submittal 
 

 

 

 

 

             Rev 11/18 

           Received   

4/1/2020 2:17:09 PM

REVISION

AGUA CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 

17 COOLIDGE CT PALM COAST  FL 

386-931-0008 2019100614

revised roof added 

X

04/01/2020 02:17 pm IP:[10.10.250.10]

25

COPC APPROVED: 7/8/2020,  PERMIT #: 2019100614

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 5 - Revision sheet to add roof



 

 

 

26

elens
Oval

elens
Text Box
40'

elens
Line

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 6 - Plan sheet submitted with revision showing 40' roof



PERMIT PLAN REVIEWS DETAIL REPORT

PERMIT # 2019100614

17  COOLIDGE CT  ADDRESS:

ZON HOLD

Held By: TDOAK
As per the Land Development Code:

Roof lengths shall not exceed 34 feet on lots 70 to 74.9 feet of water frontage.  This lot is 70'.

Permit application must be revised from dock to boat house if a roof is being installed.

Site plan must indicate location of proposed roof and it's dimensions and also demonstrate that it does not
exceed the maximum allowable projection into the waterbody.

4/1/2020

4/1/2020

4/1/2020

2

ZONING  (386-986-3751)

0.00

DEPARTMENT:

REVIEW TYPE:

STATUS:

REVIEW KEY:

BIN #

IN DATE:

OUT DATE:

REVIEW HRS:

RELEASE DATE:

RELEASE USER:

RESULT USER:

REMARKS

City of Palm Coast Page 1 of 1
CDPR2411

27

elens
Text Box
Exhbit 7 - Hold Comment - Roof exceeds allowed length



   
 

 

 

 
Revision - Submission Form 

Instructions:  This sheet must be filled out completely in order to route your 

information Submitted properly.  “See attached” and incomplete forms will result in a 

slower processing of this submission.    

 
 
 

 

Document Type  

 

 

 

Contractor DBA /Applicant  

Job Address  

Phone Number  Permit Number  

 

 

 

Please Select Required Reviewing Departments 

Electrical  ☐ Mechanical  ☐ Plumbing  ☐ Building  ☐ Fire  ☐  

Landscape  ☐ Zoning  ☐ Utility   ☐ Stormwater  ☐ Engineering  ☐ Flood Plain  ☐ 

 

 

 

Brief Description of Submittal 
 

 

 

 

 

             Rev 11/18 

           Received   

7/2/2020 12:32:19 PM

REVISION

AGUA CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 

17 COOLIDGE CT PALM COAST  FL 

386-931-0008 2019100614

UPDATED PLANS AND SITE PLANS 

X

X

07/02/2020 12:32 pm IP:[10.10.250.10]

28

COPC APPROVED: 7/8/2020,  PERMIT #: 2019100614

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 8 - Revision sheet to correct the roof length



 

 

 

29

elens
Oval

elens
Text Box
34'

elens
Line

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 9 - Plan sheet showing corrected roof length of 34'



30

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 10 - Approved site plan showing 34' roof (with contractor's handwritten confirmation)

elens
Oval



 

 

 

Screen shot from Permitting software – CD Plus – Showing the dates the revised plans were 
received. 

 

 

 

 

Screen shot from Permitting Software – CD Plus –Showing approval and hold dates for the 
permit 

 

 

04-01-2020: Revision was submitted for a 40’ roof 

04-01-2020: Permit put on hold because roof was too large. 

07-02-2020: Revision submitted for 34’ roof 

07-02-2020: Revised plans and site plan approved by Zoning.  

 

31

elens
Text Box
Exhbit 11 - Screen shots from permitting software showing upload dates of the plan sheets and dates the permit was put on hold and when it was approved (complete)

elens
Rectangle

elens
Rectangle

elens
Rectangle

elens
Rectangle



32

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 12 - Email from Owner to Council Member and forward to staff



33



34

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 13 - Email response to owner



35

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 14 - Excerpt from Technical Manual re. Maximum roof lengths

elens
Oval



36

elens
Text Box
Exhibit 15 - Email to / from Contractor - Status of Permit = Expired



37



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

17 Coolidge Court

17 Coolidge Court

Map Provided By: Planning Division

0 10050
Feet ±

38



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

17 Coolidge Court

Palm Coast FLUM Canals Residential

17 Coolidge Court

Map Provided By: Planning Division

Canals

Residential

Coastal High Hazard Area

0 10050
Feet

±
39



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

17 Coolidge Court

Palm Coast Zoning PSP SFR-2

17 Coolidge Court

Map Provided By: Planning Division

PSP

SFR-2

0 10050
Feet

±
40



09/01/2021 11:42 am IP:[10.10.250.10] Packet No: 53949

41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54

COPC APPROVED: 10/31/2019,  PERMIT #: 2019100614



55



COPC APPROVED: 10/31/2019,  PERMIT #: 2019100614

56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66

TDoak
Oval

TDoak
Oval

TDoak
Text Box
Permit # 2019100614Zoning Approval 12'x12' Dock with 13'x28' Boat Slip10/31/19  TD



67



68



69

COPC APPROVED: 10/31/2019,  PERMIT #: 2019100614



70



From: dan@aguaconstruction.com
To: Barbie Bembry
Subject: 17 COOLRIDGE
Date: Thursday, July 2, 2020 12:57:40 PM

Ms. Bembry
 
There was a misread from the building and zoning on a set of plans turned in for 17 coolridge boat
house, Original plans showed future roof and at 40” This prmit was approved, We went ahead and
built the dock, Owners wanted to go ahead and do roof as well. We proceeded to do the roof and
turn in the revisions, The revisions were not accepted as roof for this sixe lot could only be 34’ which
was very confusing as the original plans were approved for future roof. Just wanted you to be aware
of this..
 
As we sit now. I have uploaded correct plans to meet what the city required, Could you please
forward it to who needs to read this so we can get this quickly and get this final inspection before it
closes up and expires.
Thank you
 
Dan Priotti CGC CPC
Agua Construction
2550 N. State St unit 14
Bunnell, FL 32110
c-386-931-0008
 

71

COPC APPROVED: 7/8/2020,  PERMIT #: 2019100614



72



07/02/2020 12:31 pm IP:[10.10.250.10]

73

TDoak
Text Box
Revised Zoning ApprovalAdding 13'x34' Roof - Roof not to project more than 13' into waterbody7/2/20  TD



A = 8" BUTT PILE BELOW DECK

B = 8" BUTT  PILE 4' ABOVE DECK

C = 9" BUTT PILE 6'-7' ABOVE DECK
12

'
1'

13
'

12'

28'

12'

28'

TO P.T. STRINGER USING 3-16d S.S. TOENAILS

2"x8" P.T. FLOOR JOIST @ MAX. 16" O.C.,

ATTACHED EACH P.T. FLOOR JOIST

ATTACHED TO END OF EA. FLR. JOIST

USING 2-16d S.S. NAILS 

2"x8" P.T. FLOOR JOIST

W/ 1/2" S.S. THROUGH  BOLT

2"x10" P.T. FLOOR STRINGER FIXED

TO P.T. RND. TIMBER COLUMN

COMPOSITE FLOOR DECKING
FASTENED TO P.T. FLOOR JOIST

W/ 2 - 3"L. S.S. DECK SCREWS
AT EACH JOIST, TYPICAL

1'  Cantlever Walk Detail

BOAT LIFT  U.S. 8K 

2"x8" DECK JOIST

DECKING

1'

@ CONNECTION

TYP. ISOMETRIC DETAILS

NOT TO SCALE

PILE POST CONT., TYP.

ALL P.T. PILES 6'-8' EMBEDMENT

NOTE:

8" DIA. X 18' L. ROUND P.T.

NEW 2"X6" P.T. FLOOR DECKING

FASTENED TO P.T. FLOOR JOIST

W/ 2 - 3"L. S.S. DECK SCREWS

AT EACH LOCATION, TYPICAL

2"X8" P.T. FLOOR JOIST @ 24" O.C. (MAX.)

FASTENED EACH TO P.T. STRINGER

W/ (3) 16d S.S. TOENAILS AND FASTENED

TO PILES W/ (4) -16d SS NAILS, TYP.

(2) 2"X10" P.T. STRINGERS

FASTENED TO 10" DIA. P.T. PILE

W/  1 / 2" DIA. S.S. ALL THREAD

BOLT W/ 1-1/2" ROUND WASHER @ EACH END

TA
JM

IR
 - 

DA
VI

S 
&

 A
SS

O
CI

AT
ES

 , 
IN

C.

I
T

 
I
S

 
T

H
E

 
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

I
B

I
L

I
T

Y
 
O

F
 
T

H
E

 
O

W
N

E
R

/
C

O
N

T
R

A
C

T
O

R
 
T

O
 
C

H
E

C
K

 
T

H
E

 
P

L
A

N
S

 
F

O
R

A
N

Y
 
E

R
R

O
R

S
 
O

R
 
O

M
I
S

S
I
O

N
S

 
P

R
I
O

R
 
T

O
 
S

T
A

R
T

 
O

F
 
C

O
N

S
T

R
U

C
T

I
O

N
.
 
A

N
Y

 
C

H
A

N
G

E
S

M
A

D
E

 
I
N

 
F

I
E

L
D

 
W

I
T

H
O

U
T

 
P

R
E

V
I
O

U
S

 
C

O
N

S
E

N
T

 
O

F
 
T

H
E

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
E

R
 
E

X
E

M
P

T
S

 
T

H
E

 
D

E
S

I
G

N
E

R
 
&

A
S

S
O

C
I
A

T
E

S
 
F

R
O

M
 
A

N
Y

 
L

E
G

A
L

 
A

N
D

/
O

R
 
F

I
N

A
N

C
I
A

L
 
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

I
B

I
L

I
T

Y
 
F

O
R

 
T

H
E

 
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

.

A
q

u
a

 
C

o
n

s
t
r
u

c
t
i
o

n
.

T
y
p

i
c
a

l
 
D

o
c
k
 
L

a
y
o

u
t

17
 C

O
O

LR
ID

GE
 C

t.
Pa

lm
 C

oa
st

, F
l.

DOCK  LAYOUT 

Roof Framing Plan

2"X6" RAFTERS @ 24" O.C.

2"X8" HIP RAFTERS

USE H1Z TO CONNECT RAFTER
TO WOOD BEAM

USE H2.5  TO CONNECT HIP RAFTER
TO WOOD BEAM

USE 2-0.5" THROUGH BOLT TO CONNECT
WOOD BEAM TO PILE TYP.

2"X6" FACIA

APPLY 3/4" SHEATHING
ON TOP OF 1"X6" P.T.

APPLY  PEEL & STICK ON TOP OF SHEATHING
APPLY CONC. TILE ROOF ON TOP OF PEEL & STICK

1'1'

1'
12

'
1'

12
'

1'

2"X8" ANGLE SUPPORT

ALL BOATHOUSE PILES 8'-0" EMBEDMENT,

2-2"x12" WOOD BEAM
USE 2-0.5"Ø THRU BOLT WITH

0.5" WASHER

13
'

1'
12

'13
'

EDGE OF EXISTING SEA WALL

Th
is 

St
ru

ct
ur

e 
is 

in
  C

om
pl

ia
nc

e 
 w

ith
 th

e 
 6

th
 E

di
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

20
17

 
F

l
o
r
i
d
a
 
B

u
i
l
d
i
n
g
 
C

o
d
e

,
in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

20
14

  N
at

io
na

l e
le

ct
ric

al
 c

od
e,

  b
ui

ld
in

g 
co

de
 a

do
pt

ed
 N

FP
A 

70
,

on
e 

an
d 

tw
o 

fa
m

ily
 d

w
el

lin
gs

 , 
in

 c
ha

pt
er

 3
5 

of
 th

e 
Fl

or
id

a 
bu

ild
in

g 
co

de
, R

es
id

en
tia

l.
E

N
G

I
N

E
E

R
:

 
 
 
P

E
R

R
Y

 
T

R
O

I
N

A

 
 
 
F

L
.
 
L
I
C

 
#
 
3
6
1
8
9

A
D

D
R

E
S

S
:
 
2
5
 
P

A
L
M

 
H

A
R

B
O

R
 
V

I
L
L
A

G
E

 
W

A
Y

,
 
 
S

T
E

 
7

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
P

A
L
M

 
C

O
A

S
T

,
 
 
F

L
O

R
I
D

A
 
3
2
1
3
7

TH
IS

 B
U

IL
DI

N
G 

HA
S 

BE
EN

  D
ES

IG
N

ED
 F

O
R 

U
LT

IM
AT

E 
W

IN
D 

SP
EE

D 
O

F 
13

3 
M

PH
 IN

 T
HE

CA
TE

GO
RY

 II
 A

S 
PE

R 
AS

CE
 7

: T
AB

LE
 1

-1

9'-4" 9'-4" 9'-4"

9'-4" 9'-4" 9'-4"

2"X8" ANGLE SUPPORT

FLOOR JOIST LINE

PILE POST CONT., TYP.

ALL P.T. PILES 6'-8' EMBEDMENT
8"ROUND P.T.

(2) 2"X10" P.T. STRINGERS
FASTENED TO 10" DIA. P.T. PILE
W/  1 / 2" DIA. S.S. ALL THREAD

BOLT W/ 1-1/2" ROUND WASHER @ EACH
END, TYPICAL

SCALE                               1/4"=1'-0"

 LOGITUDINAL SECTION  

APPROXIMATE 

MEAN HIGH

WATER LEVEL

TOP OF PILE

NOTE:
C

5'
-8

"A

TILE ROOF TO MATCH 
EXISTING RESIDENCE.

4.5

12

1'-0"

4.5

12

1'-0"

7'

10
'-8

"

2"X6" FACIA

APPLY 0.5" SHEATHING

APPLY # 30 FELT ON TOP OF SHEATHING
APPLY FIBERGLASS SHINGLES ON TOP OF FELT

USE 2-0.5" THROUGH BOLT TO CONNECT
WOOD BEAM TO PILE TYP.

2"X6" RAFTERS @ 24" O.C.

A

3.5" NOTCH

@ TOP OF

PILE . MIN. 12"

9"

3
.
5
"

5
.
5
"

9
"

9"DIA. PILE

 TYP. HEADER TO PILE CONNECTION

SCALE:                            1/2"=1'-0"

TOP OF PILE

2-2"X10" HEADER

(2) 5/8" DIA. GALV.

TROUGH BOLTS W/ 1 1 / 2"

WASHER @ EA. SIDE AS SHOWN

2"X4" NAILED TO TOP OF HEADER

W/ 16d GALV. NAILS @ 16" O.C.

STAGGERED

BOAT SLIP 

DECK

Design Criteria

BUILDING CODE                                      6TH EDITION , 2017 FLORIDA BUILDING CODE

ELECTRICAL  CODE                                  2014 NEC, NFPA70

BUILDING TYPE                                       RESIDENTIAL  MARINE DOCK 

BUILDING CATEGORY                           OPEN STRUCTURE

WIND LOAD                                                      PER 

WIND IMPERFORATE FACTOR             1.0

BUILDING DESIGN PRESSURES         133  PER ASCE 7 HAZARD TOOL

APPL.  INTERNAL PRES. COFF.    

0.18

NUMBER OF OCCUPANT                     0

ALLOWABLE # OF STORIES                  1

LIVE LOAD                                             50 POUNDS /SQUARE FOOT

TOTAL LOAD (LIVE+DEAD)

100 POUNDS / SQUARE FOOT

FIRE RATING OF STRUCTURE              0

"R" RATING OF FLOOR , ROOF          R-0 , R-0

EXEMPT FROM ENERGY 

CONSECRATION CODE

YES

SPECIFICATION OF DOCK (ALL LUMBER MATERIALS TO BE # 2 S.Y.P)

ALL PILE                                                      MARINE GRADE 2.5

ALL 2"X12"                                                O.40 MARINE GRADE PT.

2"X12" ATTACHED TO PILE                     USE 2-0.5" THROUGH S.S. BOLT. 

DECK JOIST                                                2"X10" O.40 MARINE GRADE  @ 16" O.C UNLESS IT IS

WEARDECK  2"X10"  24" O.C.

ALL DECKING                                           2"X6" GRADE #2 P.T.

RAFTERS                                                 2"X6" SYP O.40 P.T. @ 24" O.C.

RIDGE BEAM                                        2"X8" SYP   O.40 

FACIA                                                   2"X6" SYP    O.40 

SHEATHING                                          0.75" THK      O.40 SHEATHING FOUR PLY

UNDERLAYMENT                               PEEL & STICK ON TOP OF SHEATHING AND FINISH WITH TILE ROOF

NOTE: ALL ROOF FINISH MUST MATCH HOUSE.

GENERAL NOTES:

1-THIS STRUCTURE IS HAS BEEN DESIGNED WITH ACCORDANCE OF THE 6TH EDITION, 2017 BUILDING CODE,(2017 BBC)

2-ALL MATERIALS AND LABOR SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ABOVEMENTIONED CODE AND ALL OTHER APPLICABLE

LOCAL CODES AT THE TIME OF BUILDING.

3-ALL THE FOLLOWING LUMBER SHALL BE PRESSURE TREATED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AIWA  USE CATEGORY UC3B

(EXTERIOR ABOVE GROUND , UNCOATED OR POOR WATER RUNOFF) FLOOR JOIST PLYWOOD , FLOOR DECKING, AND

EXTERIOR RATED WOOD STRUCTURE.

4-ALL FASTENERS AND CONNECTORS IN CONTACT WITH PRESSURE TREATED WOOD SHALL BE HOT DIPPED

GALVANIZED(G185) OR STAINLESS STEEL.

5-ALL TIE DOWN SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OFF ALL APPLICABLE CODE.

6-THESE PLANS HAVE BEEN DESIGNED FOR HIV REQUIREMENT AS SET FORTH IN THE 2017 BBC.

7-NO FIELD REVISION TO ANY STRUCTURALLY COMPONENT OR DEVIATION FROM THESE DRAWING SHALL BE MADE.

8-THE OWNER AND THE CONTRACTOR SHALL HOLD THE ENGINEER FROM AND AGAINST ALL LIABILITY CLAIMS , LOSSES AND

EXPENSE INCLUDING LEGAL FEES ARISING OUT OF OR RESULTING FROM ERROR OR OMISSION IN THE PERFORMANCE OF

THE WORK BY CONTRACTOR.

UNDERLAYMENT SHALL CONFORM W/SEC 1507.2.6 OF 2017 FBC

Location
17 Coolidge Ct, Palm Coast, Florida, 32137
Elevation 7 ft with respect to North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88)
Lat: 29.583246
Long: -81.20272
Standard: ASCE/SEI 7-10
Risk Category: II
Soil Class:
Wind
133 Vmph

RIDGE BEAM

HIP BEAM

HIP BEAM

RA
FT

ER

TOTAL OF 4-16d NAILS
ONE FROM OPPOSITE SIDE OF RIDGE BEAM,

OTHER SIDE OF RAFTER TO RIDGE BEAM.

 8K BOAT LIFT

40'

40' n.t.s.

40'

04/01/2020 02:16 pm IP:[10.10.250.10]

74

COPC APPROVED: 7/8/2020,  PERMIT #: 2019100614

COPC APPROVED: 7/8/2020,  PERMIT #: 2019100614



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



   
 
 

 

 
 

GENERAL - APPLICATION 
 

 DATE  
APPLICATION TYPE  

 
 

PROJECT NAME  

LOCATION OF SUBJECT PROPERTY   

( PHYSICAL ADDRESS) 
 

PROPERTY APPRAISER’S 

 PARCEL NUMBER 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION  

SUBDIVISION NAME  

SECTION  BLOCK  LOT  

PROPERTY ACRES   PROPERTY  SQ FT  

FUTURE LAND USE  

MAP DESIGNATION 
 EXISTING ZONE DISTRICT  

OVERLAY DISTRICT  

COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER  MAP PANEL DATE  

FLOOD ZONE  

PRESENT USE OF PROPERTY  

DESCRIPTION OF REQUEST / PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT (MAY ATTACH ADDITIONAL SHEETS) 

 

PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS  IS THERE EXISTING MORTGAGE?  

09/01/2021

VARIANCE - OTHER

Stoutenburg Variance

17 COOLIDGE CT PALM COAST FL 32137

07-11-31-7004-00190-0130
PALM COAST SECTION 4 BL 19 LOT 13 OR 132 PG 180 OR 548 PG 1308 OR 751/426 OR 1853/320- OR 2208/266  

SECTION 4-COUNTRY CLUB COVE

07 00190 0130

R-1B

          

URBAN SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL

Variance Request for Boathouse Roof

Yes

84



   
 

 

             

 

OWNER APPLICANT / AGENT 
Name: Name: 

Mailing Address: Mailing Address: 

Phone Number: Phone Number: 

E-mail Address: E-mail Address: 

MORTGAGE HOLDER ENGINEER OR PROFESSIONAL 
Name: Name: 

Mailing Address: Mailing Address: 

Phone Number: Phone Number: 

E-mail Address: E-mail Address: 

ARCHITECT TRAFFIC ENGINEER 
Name: Name: 

Mailing Address: Mailing Address: 

Phone Number: Phone Number: 

E-mail Address: E-mail Address: 

SURVEYOR LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT 
Name: Name: 

Mailing Address: Mailing Address: 

Phone Number: Phone Number: 

E-mail Address: E-mail Address: 

ATTORNEY  
Name:  

Mailing Address:  

Phone Number:  

E-mail Address:  

 

APPLICANT / OWNER'S AFFIDAVIT: I certify that all the foregoing information is accurate and that all work will 
be done in compliance with all applicable laws regulating construction and zoning 
 
APPLICANT / OWNER’S ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION STATEMENT: Under penalty of perjury, I declare 
that all the information contained in this development application is true and correct. By signing this Electronic 
Submission Form, I consent to use electronic communications, electronic records, and electronic signatures 
rather than paper documents for the form(s) provided on this web site. I understand that my electronic signature 
is legally binding, as stated by 2016 Florida Statutes Title XXXIX Chapter 668 Section 50 
 

  Signature of Property Owner or Applicant  

 
 

 

STOUTENBURG GREGORY L & SUZETTE K H&W JAY LIVINGSTON

17 COOLIDGE COURT 17 COOLIDGE COURT PALM COAST, FL  32137 391 PALM COAST PARKWAY SW #1 PALM COAST, FL  32137

(386) 276-2701 (386) 439-2945

SUZETTE@GREGANDSUZ.COM JAY.LIVINGSTON314@PROTONMAIL.CH

JAY LIVINGSTON

85



October 6, 2021

RE:  Request for Variance, Application No. 4870- AMENDED LETTER AS TO FORM: IN-PERSON 
MEETING ONLY

Dear Sir or Madam,

The Community Development Department, in accordance with Section 2.05.03 of the City of Palm 
Coast Unified Land Development Code, herein advises you that:

A request has been made by JAY LIVINGSTON for property located at 17 Coolidge Court, of Palm 
Coast Section 4, Block 19, Lot 13 for a Variance. The request is for a variance to the dimensional 
standards applicable to roofs located over a dock slip, dock lift, or water on a saltwater canal. The 
maximum allowable roof length for a boathouse at 17 Coolidge Court is 34 feet, as regulated by the 
City's Land Development Code. The length of the boathouse roof that was constructed is 45 feet. The 
variance is a request that the length be permitted to exceed the allowable length by 11 feet.
This request is to be heard before the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board. You are 
hereby notified that a public hearing, required by law, will be held at the Palm Coast City Hall Community 
Wing, 160 Lake Avenue, Palm Coast, Florida on Wednesday, October 20, 2021 beginning at 5:30 pm or 
as soon thereafter as possible.  

You are welcome to attend and express your opinion or place concerns in writing and email them to 
PLDRB@palmcoastgov.com. The e-mail should indicate that they are intended for public participation 
and may be submitted up until 5 pm the day before the meeting. The City reserves the right to redact or 
reject Documentary Evidence containing obscene material or material that is confidential pursuant to 
state law.

Cordially,
ESTELLE LENS
Project Manager

NOTE:  Pursuant to Section 286.0105 of Florida Statutes the City of Palm Coast Community 
Development Department hereby notifies all interested persons that if a person decides to appeal any 
decision made by the PLDRB with respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or 
she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceeding is made, which record includes the 
testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is based.  In accordance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in these proceedings should contact City 
Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  To obtain the decision of this 
hearing, please contact the Planning Division at 386-986-3736  the day after the above public hearing 
during the afternoon.

86



 

 

Addresses – Abutting: 

 

15 Coolidge Ct.  

Murphy Steven Michael 
& Carolyn Holmes Douglas Jtwros 
15 Coolidge Court 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

19 Coolidge Ct. 

Miller Kenneth B 
19 Coolidge CT 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

16 Coolidge Ct. 

Mayer George R & Mary A 
Mayer H&W 
16 Coolidge Court 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

18 Coolidge Ct. 

Farrell Richard R & Nidia P 
H&W Trustees 
18 Coolidge Court 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

 

20 Coolidge Ct. 

Gilvary Laura M 
20 Coolidge Court 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

16 Coconut Ct. 

O’Brien George & Joan W H&W 
5095 Verbena Drive 
Asworth, GA 30102 

18 Coconut Ct. 

Kuchenbrod Joseph & Jean M 
Kuchenbrod H&W 
18 Coconut Court 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

20 Coconut Ct. 

Cottet John A Trustee & Ida F 
Faustino Trustee 
20 Coconut Court 
Palm Coast, FL 32137 

87



88



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 ���

3454�6789:;<= >?@A�BC 6789:�?<DEFG7�589:8=G
4GG�HD7G�I

6789:;<=�JKLMG7N�OPQPOROSSOTUSVRRRWPSTTXYZ[�\]̂_�̀ab�ĉd\ê[̂c�]Y�af�\fc\e\cZad�a]�]ĝ�acc[̂bb�a]�PhVi�j_�Yf�kl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�\f�opqrskptun�vq�TVPTQwx yGz;{G7G|}�~G�E��;EF��<|;{;|K8zkl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�a]�PhVi�j_opqr�skptun�vq�TVPTQ���GE�3�|8EGA�I�
6789:;<=�JKLMG7N�OPQPOROSSOTUSVRRRWPSPOXYZ[�\]̂_�̀ab�ĉd\ê[̂c�]Y�af�\fc\e\cZad�a]�]ĝ�acc[̂bb�a]�PhVV�j_�Yf�kl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�\f�opqrskptun�vq�TVPTQwx yGz;{G7G|}�~G�E��;EF��<|;{;|K8zkl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�a]�PhVV�j_opqr�skptun�vq�TVPTQ���GE�3�|8EGA�I�

�̂_Yê��

�̂_Yê��

����.���

89



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 ���

344�5674�8

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFILHNOPQ�RSTU�VWX�YRZ[T\�PY�WS�W�YOXSW]�̂WZR]RS_�WS�FÌFJ�WU�Oa�bZSOcTQ�Ed�LILF�Ra�efgh�ibfjkd�lgJLFJGmn o4p=q474rs�t>r=q=rA:p�u=;<4r�vw�:x�u6yx:p�z:;=p=x{bZSOcTQ�Ed�LILF�WS�FÌFJ�WUefgh�ibfjkd�lg�JLFJG��|4x�vwr:x4y�8�

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIIL}T�WSSTUYST\�SO�\T]R~TQ�_OPQ�RSTU�WS�F̀JI�YU�Oa�bZSOcTQ�Md�LILF�Ra�efgh�ibfjkd�lg�JLFJG�Wa\�WaOSRZT�VWX�]T̂S�cTZWPXT�Wa�WPS�OQR�T\�QTZRYRTaS�VWX�aOS�W~WR]Wc]Tm�NOP�UW_�WQQWa�T�QT\T]R~TQ_�c_PXRa��S�T�jZ�T\P]T�W��T\T]R~TQ_�̂TWSPQT�Oa�S�RX�YW�T�OQ�UW_�YRZ[�PY�S�T�RSTU�WS�S�T�eOXS�b̂ R̂ZTRa\RZWST\�Oa�S�T�aOSRZT�cT�RaaRa��bZSOcTQ�Ed�LILFm��̂�S�RX�RSTU�RX�PaZ]WRUT\�c_�bZSOcTQ�LJd�LILFS�Ta�RS�VR]]�cT�QTSPQaT\�SO�XTa\TQm@6x=;4��4�x��@6��Ax�67=�4r��4;=w=4>x��q:=p:Cp4�bZSOcTQ�Md�LILF�WS�F̀JI�YUefgh�ibfjkd�lg�JLFJG��3;�4rAp4��4r4p=q47{�8

�TUO~T��

�TUO~T��

����.���

90



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 0��

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIGFNOPQ�RSTU�VWX�YTZR[TQTY�SO�S\T�]QÔS�YTX_̀�QTaTbSRÔ�WQTẀ�OQ�UWRZ�QOOU�WS�FcJH�bU�Ô�daSOeTQ�M̀LILF�R̂�fghi�jdgkl̀�mh�JLFJGno p4q=r474st�u76>v�p4w<xy4;4zv=6>x5:=q�y66BdaSOeTQ�M̀�LILF�WS�FcJH�bUfghi�jdgkl̀�mh�JLFJG��{4v�|zs:v4w�8�

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFI}INOPQ�RSTU�VWX�YTZR[TQTY�SO�Ŵ�R̂YR[RYPWZ�WS�S\T�WYYQTXX�WS�FcLK�bU�Ô�daSOeTQ�M̀�LILF�R̂�fghijdgkl̀�mh�JLFJGno p4q=r474st�~4�v��=v���>s=r=sA:qdaSOeTQ�M̀�LILF�WS�FcLK�bUfghi�jdgkl̀�mh�JLFJG��{4v�|zs:v4w�8�

�TUO[T��

�TUO[T������.���

91



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 ���

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIHNOPQR�STUV�WXY�ZU[S\URUZ�TP�X]�S]ZS\SZQX[�XT�T̂U�XZZRUYY�XT�J_IH�̀V�P]�abTPcUR�Ed�LILF�S]�efghiafjkd�lg�JLFJGmn o4p=q474rs�t4uv�w=vx�y>r=q=rA:pabTPcUR�Ed�LILF�XT�J_IH�̀Vefgh�iafjkd�lg�JLFJG��z4v�{|r:v4}�8�

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIKGOPQR�STUV�WXY�ZU[S\URUZ�TP�X]�S]ZS\SZQX[�XT�T̂U�XZZRUYY�XT�N_IF�̀V�P]�abTPcUR�FLd�LILF�S]fi~a�k�d��f�JIFILmn o4p=q474rs�t4uv�w=vx�y>r=q=rA:pabTPcUR�FLd�LILF�XT�N_IF�̀Vfi~a�k�d��f�JIFIL��z4v�{|r:v4}�8� �:>�v�u=>r�wx:v��6A�74�p66<=>?�u67��P�TP�PQR�lf�Y�YUbTSP]�TP��S]Z�X]YWURY�TP��PQR�TRXb�S]���QUYTSP]Ym���}

�UVP\U��

�UVP\U������.���

92



October 6, 2021

RE:  Request for Variance, Application No. 4870- AMENDED LETTER AS TO FORM: IN-PERSON 
MEETING ONLY

Dear Sir or Madam,

The Community Development Department, in accordance with Section 2.05.03 of the City of Palm 
Coast Unified Land Development Code, herein advises you that:

A request has been made by JAY LIVINGSTON for property located at 17 Coolidge Court, of Palm 
Coast Section 4, Block 19, Lot 13 for a Variance. The request is for a variance to the dimensional 
standards applicable to roofs located over a dock slip, dock lift, or water on a saltwater canal. The 
maximum allowable roof length for a boathouse at 17 Coolidge Court is 34 feet, as regulated by the 
City's Land Development Code. The length of the boathouse roof that was constructed is 45 feet. The 
variance is a request that the length be permitted to exceed the allowable length by 11 feet.
This request is to be heard before the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board. You are 
hereby notified that a public hearing, required by law, will be held at the Palm Coast City Hall Community 
Wing, 160 Lake Avenue, Palm Coast, Florida on Wednesday, October 20, 2021 beginning at 5:30 pm or 
as soon thereafter as possible.  

You are welcome to attend and express your opinion or place concerns in writing and email them to 
PLDRB@palmcoastgov.com. The e-mail should indicate that they are intended for public participation 
and may be submitted up until 5 pm the day before the meeting. The City reserves the right to redact or 
reject Documentary Evidence containing obscene material or material that is confidential pursuant to 
state law.

Cordially,
ESTELLE LENS
Project Manager

NOTE:  Pursuant to Section 286.0105 of Florida Statutes the City of Palm Coast Community 
Development Department hereby notifies all interested persons that if a person decides to appeal any 
decision made by the PLDRB with respect to any matter considered at such meeting or hearing, he or 
she may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceeding is made, which record includes the 
testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is based.  In accordance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, persons needing assistance to participate in these proceedings should contact City 
Clerk's Office at 386-986-3713 at least 48 hours prior to the meeting.  To obtain the decision of this 
hearing, please contact the Planning Division at 386-986-3736  the day after the above public hearing 
during the afternoon.

93



94



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 ���

3454�6789:;<= >?@A�BC 6789:�?<DEFG7�589:8=G
4GG�HD7G�I

6789:;<=�JKLMG7N�OPQPOROSSOTUSVRRRWPSTTXYZ[�\]̂_�̀ab�ĉd\ê[̂c�]Y�af�\fc\e\cZad�a]�]ĝ�acc[̂bb�a]�PhVi�j_�Yf�kl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�\f�opqrskptun�vq�TVPTQwx yGz;{G7G|}�~G�E��;EF��<|;{;|K8zkl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�a]�PhVi�j_opqr�skptun�vq�TVPTQ���GE�3�|8EGA�I�
6789:;<=�JKLMG7N�OPQPOROSSOTUSVRRRWPSPOXYZ[�\]̂_�̀ab�ĉd\ê[̂c�]Y�af�\fc\e\cZad�a]�]ĝ�acc[̂bb�a]�PhVV�j_�Yf�kl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�\f�opqrskptun�vq�TVPTQwx yGz;{G7G|}�~G�E��;EF��<|;{;|K8zkl]Ym̂[�Wn�VSVP�a]�PhVV�j_opqr�skptun�vq�TVPTQ���GE�3�|8EGA�I�

�̂_Yê��

�̂_Yê��

����.���

95



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 ���

344�5674�8

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFILHNOPQ�RSTU�VWX�YRZ[T\�PY�WS�W�YOXSW]�̂WZR]RS_�WS�FÌFJ�WU�Oa�bZSOcTQ�Ed�LILF�Ra�efgh�ibfjkd�lgJLFJGmn o4p=q474rs�t>r=q=rA:p�u=;<4r�vw�:x�u6yx:p�z:;=p=x{bZSOcTQ�Ed�LILF�WS�FÌFJ�WUefgh�ibfjkd�lg�JLFJG��|4x�vwr:x4y�8�

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIIL}T�WSSTUYST\�SO�\T]R~TQ�_OPQ�RSTU�WS�F̀JI�YU�Oa�bZSOcTQ�Md�LILF�Ra�efgh�ibfjkd�lg�JLFJG�Wa\�WaOSRZT�VWX�]T̂S�cTZWPXT�Wa�WPS�OQR�T\�QTZRYRTaS�VWX�aOS�W~WR]Wc]Tm�NOP�UW_�WQQWa�T�QT\T]R~TQ_�c_PXRa��S�T�jZ�T\P]T�W��T\T]R~TQ_�̂TWSPQT�Oa�S�RX�YW�T�OQ�UW_�YRZ[�PY�S�T�RSTU�WS�S�T�eOXS�b̂ R̂ZTRa\RZWST\�Oa�S�T�aOSRZT�cT�RaaRa��bZSOcTQ�Ed�LILFm��̂�S�RX�RSTU�RX�PaZ]WRUT\�c_�bZSOcTQ�LJd�LILFS�Ta�RS�VR]]�cT�QTSPQaT\�SO�XTa\TQm@6x=;4��4�x��@6��Ax�67=�4r��4;=w=4>x��q:=p:Cp4�bZSOcTQ�Md�LILF�WS�F̀JI�YUefgh�ibfjkd�lg�JLFJG��3;�4rAp4��4r4p=q47{�8

�TUO~T��

�TUO~T��

����.���

96



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 0��

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIGFNOPQ�RSTU�VWX�YTZR[TQTY�SO�S\T�]QÔS�YTX_̀�QTaTbSRÔ�WQTẀ�OQ�UWRZ�QOOU�WS�FcJH�bU�Ô�daSOeTQ�M̀LILF�R̂�fghi�jdgkl̀�mh�JLFJGno p4q=r474st�u76>v�p4w<xy4;4zv=6>x5:=q�y66BdaSOeTQ�M̀�LILF�WS�FcJH�bUfghi�jdgkl̀�mh�JLFJG��{4v�|zs:v4w�8�

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFI}INOPQ�RSTU�VWX�YTZR[TQTY�SO�Ŵ�R̂YR[RYPWZ�WS�S\T�WYYQTXX�WS�FcLK�bU�Ô�daSOeTQ�M̀�LILF�R̂�fghijdgkl̀�mh�JLFJGno p4q=r474st�~4�v��=v���>s=r=sA:qdaSOeTQ�M̀�LILF�WS�FcLK�bUfghi�jdgkl̀�mh�JLFJG��{4v�|zs:v4w�8�

�TUO[T��

�TUO[T������.���

97



������������	��
� �
���������
���������������� �

!  "���� �������"��������������#��$���%� ���& ��$'$���"���( )�'*( �+ �,---'( )�.���'*�-�*/*��*0	��///,��001�#*�-�*/*��*0	��///,���*2 ���

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIHNOPQR�STUV�WXY�ZU[S\URUZ�TP�X]�S]ZS\SZQX[�XT�T̂U�XZZRUYY�XT�J_IH�̀V�P]�abTPcUR�Ed�LILF�S]�efghiafjkd�lg�JLFJGmn o4p=q474rs�t4uv�w=vx�y>r=q=rA:pabTPcUR�Ed�LILF�XT�J_IH�̀Vefgh�iafjkd�lg�JLFJG��z4v�{|r:v4}�8�

344�5674�8
97:;<=>?�@ABC47D�EFGFEHEIIEJKILHHHMFIKGOPQR�STUV�WXY�ZU[S\URUZ�TP�X]�S]ZS\SZQX[�XT�T̂U�XZZRUYY�XT�N_IF�̀V�P]�abTPcUR�FLd�LILF�S]fi~a�k�d��f�JIFILmn o4p=q474rs�t4uv�w=vx�y>r=q=rA:pabTPcUR�FLd�LILF�XT�N_IF�̀Vfi~a�k�d��f�JIFIL��z4v�{|r:v4}�8� �:>�v�u=>r�wx:v��6A�74�p66<=>?�u67��P�TP�PQR�lf�Y�YUbTSP]�TP��S]Z�X]YWURY�TP��PQR�TRXb�S]���QUYTSP]Ym���}

�UVP\U��

�UVP\U������.���

98



From: PLDRB
To: Irene Schaefer; Ray Tyner
Subject: FW: Greg and Suzette Stoutenburg
Date: Tuesday, October 12, 2021 1:58:10 PM
Attachments: image007.png

image008.png
image009.png
image010.png
image011.png
image012.png

 

From: Estelle Lens
Sent: Tuesday, 12 October 2021 13:58:07 (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada)
To: PLDRB
Subject: FW: Greg and Suzette Stoutenburg

 
 
Estelle Lens, A.I.C.P
Planner
160 Lake Avenue
Palm Coast, FL  32164
Tel: 386-986-2655
www.palmcoastgov.com
Beta: www.palmcoast.gov

 
From: mayercta@aol.com <mayercta@aol.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, October 12, 2021 1:45 PM
To: Estelle Lens <ELens@palmcoastgov.com>
Subject: Greg and Suzette Stoutenburg
 
Good afternoon,
 
We are writing in support of Greg and Suzette Stoutenburg who reside at 17 Coolidge Court.
 
We understand that they are being asked to remove a portion of their dock that is not in compliance with
the city guidelines.  We would ask that they be given a variance so that no construction or destruction
need happen.  The dock is not causing any problems on our quiet street.
 
We hope that you will consider their petition carefully at the hearing on October 20th and decide in their
favor.
If you need any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact us.
 
Sincerely,
 
George and Mary Mayer
mayercta@aol.com

99









16 Coolidge Court
Palm Coast

100



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: October 20, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount
Item Key 12244 Account 

#

Subject SABAL PALMS PHASE 2 - TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2 - APPLICATION # 
4780

Presenter: Estelle Lens, Planner

Background:
The applicant has submitted a Technical Site Plan application for an Independent Living Facility. 
This is Phase 2 of the Sabal Palms project. It is proposed for 100 Units, (132 beds), which 
makes it a Tier 2 Technical Site Plan and requires approval by the Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board (PLDRB). Phase 2 comprises 6.88 acres of the 18.67 acre site 
and is located at 2125 Palm Harbor Parkway. 

The site is zoned COM-1, Neighborhood Commercial. The Title is vested in Protea Senior 
Living Palm Coast, LLC, a California limited liability company successor-in-interest to Moreno 
Eucalyptus, LLC, a California limited liability company.  
Phase 1 of the Sabal Palms Project was a Tier 2 Technical Site Plan for an Assisted Living 
Facility approved by the PLDRB on January 20, 2016. Phase 1 consists of 5.40 acres, 82 units, 
(100 beds), and has already been constructed. 
Sabal Palms Phase 2 is an Independent Living Facility that will consist of 100 units with 132 
beds. The 6.88 acres site will have a full access onto Palm Harbor Parkway with a secondary 
access through the parking areas of Phase 1. Outdoor amenities will include a pool and spa 
area, pickle ball court, six hole-putting course, and garden area. Indoor amenities will include a 
dining hall, theatre, card room, billiard room, sports bar, lounge and ice cream parlor. Sidewalks 
will provide interconnectivity between phases 1 and 2 that will share amenities. A variety of 
floorplans will include studio, one bedroom and two bedroom units. The site will include areas 
with 100-200 foot wetland and upland natural buffers from adjacent residential lots. 

Recommended Action:
Planning Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
approve the Technical Site Plan – Tier 2 for Sabal Palms Phase 2, Application No. 4780, and 
find that it is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code 
subject to the following condition:
 Finalizing and recording a dedicated easement for fire lines on adjacent properties

101



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
TECHNICAL SITE PLAN - TIER 2

STAFF REPORT FOR OCTOBER 20, 2021
PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD

OVERVIEW          
              
Project Name: Sabal Palms, Phase 2 – Independent Living Facility
Application Number: AR # 4780
Property Owner: Protea Senior Living Palm Coast II, LLC
Applicant: Kimberly A. Buck
Size of subject property:       18.67 +/- acres (Phase II = 6.88 acres)
Location: 2125 Palm Harbor Parkway                                                                                                                        
Current FLUM designation:  Mixed Use
Current Zoning designation: COM-1, Neighborhood Commercial 
Current Use:                        Vacant
Parcel ID #:                  07-11-31-7010-RP0A0 

REQUESTED ACTION

The applicant has submitted a Technical Site Plan application for an Independent Living Facility. 
This is Phase 2 of the Sabal Palms project. It is proposed for 100 Units, (132 beds), which 
makes it a Tier 2 Technical Site Plan and requires approval by the Planning and Land 
Development Regulation Board (PLDRB). Phase 2 comprises 6.88 acres of the 18.67 acre site 
and is located at 2125 Palm Harbor Parkway. 

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY

The site is zoned COM-1, Neighborhood Commercial. The Title is vested in Protea Senior Living 
Palm Coast, LLC, a California limited liability company successor-in-interest to Moreno 
Euclyptus, LLC, a California limited liability company.  

Phase 1 of the Sabal Palms Project was a Tier 2 Technical Site Plan for an Assisted Living 
Facility approved by the PLDRB on January 20, 2016. Phase 1 consists of 5.40 acres, 82 units, 
(100 beds), and has already been constructed. 

Sabal Palms Phase 2 is an Independent Living Facility that will consist of 100 units with 132 
beds. The 6.88 acres site will have a full access onto Palm Harbor Parkway with a secondary 
access through the parking areas of Phase 1. Outdoor amenities will include a pool and spa 
area, pickle ball court, six hole-putting course, and garden area. Indoor amenities will include a 
dining hall, theatre, card room, billiard room, sports bar, lounge and ice cream parlor. Sidewalks 
will provide interconnectivity between phase 1 and 2 that will share amenities. A variety of 
floorplans will include studio, one bedroom and two bedroom units. The site will include areas 
with 100-200 foot wetland and upland natural buffers from adjacent residential lots. 

102



                                                                   App. #4780

2

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION
The subject site is designated Mixed Use on the Future Land Use Map and is zoned COM-1, 
Neighborhood Commercial. 

SURROUNDING ZONING AND FLUM CATEGORIES
Direction FLUM Category Zoning District
North Residential, Mixed Use SFR-3, MPD

East Residential, AG – Timber (County) DPX, AC  - Agriculture (County)

South Residential SFR-3, SFR-2, DPX

West Residential SFR-3, SFR-2

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Site development for the property must be in accordance with the requirements of the City of 
Palm Coast Land Development Code and must comply with the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  
The following table compares the required development standards with the proposed 
development standards:

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS
COM-1, Neighborhood Commercial

Criteria Required Provided
Minimum Development Site Area 20,000 sq. ft. 299,831 sq. ft.
Maximum Impervious Surface Ratio 0.70 0.31
Maximum Building Height 50 feet 39 feet 10 inches         
Minimum Building Setbacks Front (North):            25 feet

Interior Side (East):   10 feet
Interior Side (West):  10 feet 
Rear (South):            10 feet

 73.07 feet
  47.00 feet
  47.00 feet
191.79 feet
  

Minimum Parking: 
Independent Living Facility 
1.25 spaces per unit (0.33 per unit 
being garage paces)

100 units X 1.25 = 125
100 units X 0.33 =   33 
Broken down: 
88 standard + 4 HC = 92
31 garage + 2 HC =    33
Total =                       125

85 surface + 6 HC = 91
32 garage + 2 HC =  34
Total =                    125

Minimum Landscape Buffers Front (North):           25 feet
Sides:                  10/20 feet
Rear (North):            10 feet

       25 feet
10/164 feet
191.79 feet

103



                                                                   App. #4780

3

TECHNICAL SITE PLAN PROCESS
The Technical Site Plan review application process is specified in Chapter 2, Section 2.11 of the 
Unified Land Development Code (LDC). This review process ensures that site development 
takes place in an orderly and efficient manner through a process that provides adequate review 
based on the size and complexity of the proposed development. The purpose of detailed site 
plan review is to ensure compliance with all development regulations; therefore, the level of 
detail shall be that of construction plans and technical specifications. Approval of a Technical 
Site Plan Development Order authorizes an applicant to apply for a site development permit.

The application incorporates a review/approval process coordinated by and through City staff, 
the Planning and Land Development Review Board (PLDRB) and City Council based upon the 
scale of development.  As provided in Table 2-1 of Sec. 2.04 of the LDC, residential projects 
over 41 units and not exceeding 100 units is classified as Moderate or Tier 2 projects, thus the 
scale of this development requires approval from the PLDRB. 

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE CHAPTER 2, SECTION 2.05.05 

Prior to approval of a Development Order for a Technical Site Plan, the proposed project must 
be evaluated for conformance with the requirements of LDC Chapter 2, Section 2.05.05, which 
provides criteria that must be met to issue approval. The proposed project has been evaluated 
against the review criteria as directed by the LDC, which states: When reviewing a development 
order application, the approval authority shall determine whether sufficient factual data was 
presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a development order shall be 
based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public 
interest;

Planning Staff Finding: The proposed development is not in conflict with or contrary to the 
public interest, as the site’s specified land use and zoning allow an Independent Living Facility 
as an element of a continuing care retirement community. This is Phase 2 of the Sabal Palms 
retirement community with Phase 1 being an assisted living facility which is already constructed. 
This will be an attractive, high quality continuation of the retirement community, fully in 
compliance with the City’s codes and ordinances. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the provisions of the Land 
Development Code and the Comprehensive Plan:

Planning Staff Finding: The request will be consistent with all applicable portions of the LDC 
and the Comprehensive Plan. The following are a selection of goals, policies and objectives 
from the Comprehensive Plan that the project supports: 

Chapter 1 Future Land Use Element: 
- Goal 1.1 – Preserve the character of residential communities, prevent urban 

sprawl and protect open space and environmental resources, while providing a 
mix of land uses, housing types, services, and job opportunities in mixed use 
centers and corridors.

- Objective 1.1.1 – The City’s Future Land Use Map (FLUM) shall provide areas 
for mixed use development in identified commercial centers and corridors while 
maintaining the established suburban residential development pattern in single 
family areas and protecting the community’s environmental resources. 

104



                                                                   App. #4780

4

- Policy 1.1.1.1 – C – Mixed Use -  This FLUM designation represents existing 
and future mixed use corridors and employment centers throughout the City that 
provide general retail, professional services and office. A blending of residential 
and institutional are a permitted use within this designation. The Mixed Use 
designation provides opportunities for residents to work, shop, engage in 
recreational activities, and attend school and religious activities in reasonable 
proximity to residential dwellings. 

- Objective 1.1.4 Discourage Urban Sprawl – Promote compact and contiguous 
development, a mixture of land uses, and discourage urban sprawl.

The City’s Comprehensive Plan promotes a diversity of uses and housing choices so residents 
have the option of meeting some of their daily living requirements close to home. This 
independent living facility, as Phase 2 of the Sable Palms retirement community, will allow some 
residents to age-in-place, or nearby to neighborhoods they lived in for many years, furthering 
the maintenance of social networks and community ties. Additionally, residents will be able to 
meet much of their daily needs on-site through a host of amenities.

Chapter 2 Transportation Element: 
- Objective 2.2.2 – Enforce standards that encourage and/or require 

establishment of sidewalk connections or multi-use paths between new 
residential and commercial development. 

- Policy 2.2.2.1 – Through the development review process, the City shall ensure 
that developers construct connections that link residential areas, recreational 
facilities, and commercial developments to reduce traffic on collector and 
arterial roadways.

- Policy 2.2.4 – The City shall continue to enforce requirements for bicycle and 
pedestrian interconnectivity between residential developments and adjacent 
commercial developments as a means of reducing traffic on collector and 
arterial roadways.

The proposed site plan provides improved internal and external sidewalk interconnectivity over 
the existing conditions. Sidewalks are provided internally, improving the connections between 
various areas within the site. Additionally, sidewalk connections are provided from the buildings 
to public sidewalks along Palm Harbor Parkway ensuring accessible and safer pedestrian 
access from nearby residential areas.

Chapter 3 Housing Element:
- Objective 3.3.5 - Protect predominantly residential areas from the intrusion of 

incompatible or more intensive land uses.
- Objective 3.4.1 – Increase the diversity of the housing types, prices, and 

opportunities. 
- Policy 3.4.1.1 – Through the FLUM and zoning district regulations of the LDC, the 

City shall make provisions to supply land that can be developed with various types 
of residential uses, including single-family homes of various sizes, duplexes, multi-
family dwellings, and residential units in mixed use developments.

This independent living facility will offer new living opportunities for residents within Palm Coast 
and the surrounding area.

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or 
hardship for the City; 

105



                                                                   App. #4780

5

Planning Staff Findings: The proposed development does not impose a significant financial 
liability or hardship for the City. The project must meet the City’s requirements for adequate 
public facilities and must construct the onsite infrastructure required to support the proposed 
development. Additionally, any roadway, utility or other public infrastructure required by the 
future development is in place or must be funded or provided by the applicant should any 
infrastructure needs exist. 

D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or 
constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Planning Staff Finding:  The proposed development poses no unreasonable hazard, nuisance, 
nor does it constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants. 
All improvements will be newly constructed and/or developed in compliance with the relevant 
Land Development Code, Building Code and other review agency requirements. 

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and 
federal laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes;

Planning Staff Finding: The applicant has submitted plans and permit applications as required 
to the various agencies having jurisdiction, and shall meet all requirements of other applicable 
local, state and federal laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations and codes. 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

After review and evaluation of the proposed project for conformance with the requirements of 
the City of Palm Coast Comprehensive Plan and the Land Development Code, staff finds that 
the proposed development complies with all such requirements subject to the following 
condition below: 

RECOMMENDATION

Planning Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
approve the Technical Site Plan – Tier 2 for Sabal Palms Phase 2, Application No. 4780, and 
find that it is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code 
subject to the following condition:

 Finalizing and recording a dedicated easement for fire lines on adjacent properties

106



0 1,000500
Feet µ

Sabal Palms Phase 2 Distant Aerial

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Sabal Palms

Phase Line Map Provided By: Planning Division

Ph. 1Ph. 2

Matanzas Woods Pkwy.

O
ld Kings Rd. N.

Pirate Nation W
ay

Palm
, Harbor Pkwy.

Forest Grove Dr.
Matanzas 

High School

Interstate 95

Conservatory

107



0 750375
Feet µ

Sabal Palms Phase 2 Close-in Aerial

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Sabal Palms

Phase Line Map Provided By: Planning Division

Ph. 1Ph. 2

Pirate Nation W
ay

Forest Grove Dr.

Palm
 Harbor Pkwy.

Fernmill Ln.

Cris Ln.

Ferndale Ln.

Matanzas
High 

School

108



AG-TIMBER

CONS

Institutional

Conservation

Greenbelt

Residential

Mixed Use

Coastal High Hazard Area

Canals

0 750375
Feet

µ

Sabal Palms  Phase 2 FLUM

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Sabal Palms

Phase Line

FLUM

Canals

Coastal High Hazard Area

Conservation

Greenbelt

Institutional

Mixed Use

Residential

Flagler County FLUM

AGRICULTURE & TIMBERLANDS

CONSERVATION

Map Provided By: Planning Division

Forest Grove Dr.

Palm
 Harbor Pkwy.

Ph. 1
Ph. 2

Ferndale  Ln.

Fernmill Ln.

Cris Ln.

109



AC

PRS

PSP

MPD

COM-1
SFR-2

P&G

SFR-3

DPX

0 750375
Feet

µ

Sabal Palms Phase 2 Zoning Map

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Sabal Palms

Phase Line

Zoning

COM-1

DPX

MPD

P&G

PRS

PSP

SFR-2

SFR-3

Flagler Zoning

AC

Map Provided By: Planning Division

Cris Ln.

Ph. 1Ph. 2

Forest Grove Dr.

Palm
 Harbor Pkwy.

Pirate Nation W
ay

Fernmill Ln.

Ferndale  Ln.

110



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: October 20, 2021 

Department PLANNING Amount
Item Key 12241 Account 

#

Subject REZONING GRAND LANDINGS NORTH - APPLICATION #4873

Presenter: Jordan Myers, Environmental Planner 

Background:

This rezoning application for Grand Landing North is a quasi-judicial item.

JTL Grand Landings Development, LLC (as owner and intended developer) is proposing to 
rezone 70.18 +/- acres of vacant land with a borrow pit located about one mile east of Belle 
Terre Boulevard and extending north from the existing terminus of Citation Boulevard to the 
southern boundary of the Flagler County Airport from the Industrial (I) and Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) Zoning Districts to the Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) Zoning District.  
The applicant’s engineer has submitted a preliminary conceptual site plan of the proposed 
Grand Landings North single-family. This conceptual site plan shows 138 single-family 
detached lots (with the lots being a minimum of 50 feet in width and 6,000 sq. ft. in area), five 
stormwater ponds (including the existing borrow pit), and preservation areas along most of the 
eastern portion of the project. Based on this conceptual site plan the project would have an 
expected density of only 1.97 units/per acre.
Public Participation: The developer notified all neighboring property owners within 300 feet of 
the subject property via standard USPS mail of a neighborhood meeting that was held on 
October 12th, 2021 at 6:00 P.M at the Hilton Garden Inn located NW of the intersection of Town 
Center Boulevard and SR 100. 
The developer erected City provided signs at the terminus of Citation Boulevard to notify the 
general public at least two weeks prior to the Planning Board hearing. Newspaper ads were run 
approximately two weeks before the Planning Board hearing.

Recommended Action: 
Planning staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
determine the proposed rezoning (Application No. 4873) is consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and recommend approval to City Council to rezone 70.18 +/- acres from the Industrial (I) 
and Planned Unit Development (PUD) Zoning Districts to the Single Family Residential (SFR-1) 
Zoning District.

111



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
STAFF REPORT FOR GRAND LANDINGS NORTH REZONING

PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD
PUBLIC HEARING ON OCTOBER 20, 2021

OVERVIEW
Application Number: 4873

Applicant: Michael Chiumento III, Esquire, Palm Coast, FL
Property Description: 70.18 +/- acres located about 1 mile NE of the intersection of Belle 

Terre Blvd. and Citation Blvd.
Property Owner:  JTL Grand Landings Development, LLC, Dallas, TX

Parcel ID #: All or portions of 20-12-31-0650-000A0-0012, 20-12-31-0650-000A0-
0020 and 20-12-31-23950-00000-00C0

   Parcel Address: At the existing terminus of Citation Blvd.
Current FLUM: Residential

Current Zoning: Industrial (I) and Planned Unit Development (PUD)
Current Use: Vacant with a borrow pit

Size of Property:  70.18 +/- acres
Requested Action: Rezoning from the Industrial (I) and Planned Unit Development (PUD) 

Zoning Districts to the Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) Zoning 
District 

ANALYSIS
REQUESTED ACTION

JTL Grand Landings Development, LLC  is proposing to rezone 70.18 +/- acres of vacant land 
with a borrow pit from the Industrial (I) and Planned Unit Development (PUD) Zoning Districts to 
the Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) Zoning District. 
The property is located about one mile east of Belle Terre Boulevard and extends north from the 
existing terminus of Citation Boulevard to the southern boundary of the Flagler County Airport. 

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY

JTL Grand Landings Development, LLC purchased the subject property on July 9, 2014. JTL 
Grand Landings Development, LLC developed and is the process of still developing the 893-
acre Grand Landings project that is located south and southeast of the subject property. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

112



Page 2                                                                                               Application # 4873

The applicant’s engineer has submitted a preliminary conceptual site plan of the proposed 
Grand Landings North single-family project. This conceptual site plan shows 138 single-family 
detached lots (with the lots being a minimum of 50 feet in width and 6,000 sq. ft. in area), five 
stormwater ponds (including the existing borrow pit), and preservation areas along most of the 
eastern portion of the project. Based on this conceptual site plan the project would have an 
expected density of only 1.97 units/per acre.

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION

USE SUMMARY TABLE:
CATEGORY: EXISTING: PROPOSED:
Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM) Residential Residential

Zoning District
Industrial (I) and Planned Unit 
Development (PUD)

Single-family Residential-1 
(SFR-1) 

Use Vacant land with borrow pit
Single-family community with 
ponds and preservation areas

Acreage 72.18 +/- acres 72.18 +/- acres 

SURROUNDING LAND USES:

  NORTH:  FLUM: Canal
Zoning: Public/Semi-Public (PSP)

    EAST:  FLUM:            Residential
Zoning: Single-Family Residential – 1 (SFR-1)

SOUTH:  FLUM: Residential
Zoning: Master Planned Development (MPD)

WEST:          FLUM: Residential  
Zoning:            Duplex (DPX)

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

Criteria (Proposed Standards for 
SFR-1)

Min. Lot/Development Size 6,000 sq. ft. lot size
Min. Lot Width 50 ft.
Max. Impervious Surface Ratio 0.75
Min. Front Setback 20 ft.
Min. Rear Setback 10 ft.
Min. Interior Side Setback  5 ft.
Max. Building Height 35 ft.
Min. Living Area 1200 sq. ft.

113



Page 3                                                                                               Application # 4873

Max. Density* up to 7 units/per acre*

*Density in the Single-Family Residential - 1 (SFR-1) Zoning District is calculated based on 
Table 3-3 and Section 3.05.03.A of the Land Development Code, which allow up to 7 units/per 
acre on upland areas and up to 1.75 units/per acre on wetland areas that are preserved. 

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.05.05

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.05 states: When 
reviewing a development order application, the approval authority shall determine whether 
sufficient factual data was presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a 
development order shall be based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest;

Staff Finding: The proposed project with SFR-1 zoning is an allowed zoning district in areas 
designated Residential on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) and will be compatible with the 
other uses currently allowed within close proximity to the site. The change from Industrial and 
Planned Unit Development to Single Family Residential is more compatible with the surrounding 
uses. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the 
provisions of this LDC;

Staff Finding: The request is consistent with the following policies and goal of the 
Comprehensive Plan:

 Chapter 1 Future Land Use Element:  

-Policy 1.1.1.2 – The future land use designations shall permit the zoning districts listed 
and generally described in the following table. 

The subject property is designated Residential and Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) 
is an allowable zoning district for areas with the Residential designation on this FLUM 
table. 

-Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not 
disproportionately increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well 
as providing housing and transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

The proposed SFR-1 zoning would provide the opportunity for vehicular energy 
efficiency by having a significant number of homes in a community on upland tracts 
located west of the wetland areas being preserved. Public services are available to 
serve the site or will be extended by the developer at the developer’s expense.

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the 
City;

Staff Finding:  Potable water and sewer services are available to serve the project and 
reclaimed water may be available to serve the site by the time they get under construction in 

114



Page 4                                                                                               Application # 4873

2023. Belle Terre Boulevard and Citation Boulevard have enough available traffic capacity to 
serve the future residents of Grand Landings North. 
 
D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or 
constitute a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Staff Finding:  The proposed rezoning will be compatible with the overall neighborhood as it is 
located within an area of primarily residential uses and preserved lands except for primarily 
vacant and industrial-zoned lands once one travels north to the Flagler County Airport site. The 
project’s residential uses will provide demand for existing and future commercial land uses in 
nearby non-residential areas. 

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and federal 
laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes.

Staff Finding: The subject property will be required to comply with the City’s Land Development 
Code, Comprehensive Plan, and the requirements of all other applicable local, state and federal 
agencies throughout the development process. 

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.06.03 
 

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Sec. 2.06.03 states: “The Planning and 
Land Development Regulation Board and City Council shall consider the following criteria, in 
addition to the findings listed in Subsection 2.05.05, when reviewing a rezoning application”:

A. Whether it is consistent with all adopted elements of the Comprehensive Plan and whether it 
furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan;

Staff Finding: As noted previously in the analysis prepared for LDC Chapter 2, Part II, Section 
2.05.05 of this staff report, the requested zoning district is in conformance with the 
Comprehensive Plan elements, and their goals, objectives and policies. 

B. Its impact upon the environment and natural resources;

Staff Finding:  Upon submittal of the Subdivision Master Plan a thorough environmental 
analysis will be provided by the applicant and reviewed by applicable City staff and other 
governmental review agencies. 

C.   Its impact on the economy of any affected area;

Staff Finding: Impacts to the Palm Coast economy are anticipated to be positive since the 
project will provide numerous construction jobs over the first few years and will provide 
additional tax revenues to the City. Additionally, the residential homes will increase demand for 
commercial services in reasonably close proximity to the site.
 
D. Its impact upon necessary governmental services such as schools, sewage disposal, 

potable water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste, or transportation;

Staff Finding: The impact on the necessary governmental services including: concurrency 
regulations and impact fees paid by the developer during the Preliminary Plat and construction 
drawing review process will cover wastewater, potable water, drainage, fire and police 

115



Page 5                                                                                               Application # 4873

protection, solid waste and transportation systems. All infrastructure required for a future single-
family subdivision, such as water, wastewater, stormwater, neighborhood roads, would be 
constructed at the owner’s sole exclusive expense. 

E. Any changes in circumstances or conditions affecting the area;

Staff Finding: This project does not have any circumstances or conditions that would affect it or 
the surrounding area. 
 
F. Compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns, including impacts to the 
health, safety, and welfare of surrounding residents;

Staff Finding:  As previously described the proposed rezoning will be compatible with the 
existing residential uses and future residentially zoned lands. 

G. Whether it accomplishes a legitimate public purpose:

Staff Finding: The subject property is proposed for the SFR-1 Zoning District which is an 
allowable zoning district within the Residential FLUM designation. Staff believes the site is very 
appropriate for the proposed residential community. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Unified Land Development Code Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.02 requires developers or 
property owners who are requesting to rezone property within the City to notify neighboring 
property owners within 300 feet of the subject property boundaries and hold a neighborhood 
meeting. 

To comply with this standard, the developer notified the neighboring property owners via 
standard USPS mail of an upcoming neighborhood meeting that was held on October 12, 2021 
at 6:00 P.M. at the Hilton Garden Inn nearby SR 100 and Town Center Boulevard.  

The developer erected City provided signs at the end of Citation Boulevard, notifying the 
general public of the upcoming public hearing for the Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board by October 6. City staff has discussed the project with several residents living 
to the north.

RECOMMENDATION

Planning staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
determine the proposed rezoning of Grand Landings North (Application No. 4873) is consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan and recommend approval to City Council to rezone 70.18 +/- 
acres from the Industrial (I) and Planned Unit Development (PUD) Zoning Districts to the Single-
Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) Zoning District.

116



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Grand Landings North

Grand Landings North

Map Provided By: Planning Division

0 2,0001,000
Feet ± 117



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Grand Landings North

Grand Landings North

Map Provided By: Planning Division

0 1,000500
Feet ± 118



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Grand Landings North

Palm Coast FLUM
AG & TIMBER

Canals

Greenbelt

Industrial

Institutional

Mixed Use

Residential

Flagler FLUM
AG-TIMBER

CONS

IND

MUL

RES-LOW-RE

Grand Landings North

Map Provided By: Planning Division

IND

RES-LOW-RE

MUL
AG-TIMBER

AG-TIMBER

AG-TIMBERRES-LOW-RE

Residential

Mixed Use

Industrial

Canals

Institutional

Greenbelt

INDUSTRIAL

0 1,000500
Feet

±
119



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Grand Landings North

Palm Coast Zoning
COM-2

DPX

EST-1

I

IND-1

IND-2

MPD

PSP

PUD

SFR-1

SFR-2

SFR-3

Flagler Zoning
AC

I-PUD

R/C

Grand Landings North

Map Provided By: Planning Division

R/C

I-PUD

ACPUD

AC

MPD

I

SFR-1

IND-2

PUD

PSP

IND-1

COM-2

SFR-3

DPX

SFR-2

EST-1

0 1,000500
Feet

±
120



Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Grand Landings North

Palm Coast Zoning
COM-2

DPX

EST-1

I

IND-1

IND-2

MPD

PSP

PUD

SFR-1

SFR-2

SFR-3

Flagler Zoning
AC

I-PUD

R/C

Grand Landings North

Map Provided By: Planning Division

R/C

I-PUD

ACPUD

AC

MPD

SFR-1

IND-2

PSP

IND-1

COM-2

SFR-3

DPX

SFR-2

EST-1

0 1,000500
Feet

±
121



122



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
 
 

 
LegalTeamForLife.com 

 
 

 

o The PLDRB meeting is set for September 20, 2021 at 5:30 pm. 

• Will the flooding in the area be worsened by the development of the property? 

o No, each property is responsible for its own stormwater discharge and it is illegal 

for any development to discharge stormwater on a neighboring property. It is likely 

that drainage will improve after construction of the project. 

 

If you have any follow up questions in connection with the neighborhood meeting held on October 

12, 2021 at the Town Center Hilton, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

123



124



125



126



127



3DRE LLC 
3544 ST JOHNS BLUFF ROAD S APT 1104 
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32224 
 

 
BEGTRUP THOMAS & LORI 
43 SEVEN WONDERS TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

 
COWARD MINNIE D 
PO BOX 2925 
BUNNELL, FL 32110 
 

AAE HOLDINGS INC 
84 RIVER TRAIL DR 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

BENITEO CARLOS J & AUTUMN 
23534 OLEANDER AVE 
MANTECA, CA 95337 
 

COX JOSEPH & JERRY R COX & 
22 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

AKHREMENKO GERMAN 
4508 GREENHOUSE DRIVE APT 2 
SACRAMENTO, CA 95842 
 

BRITTON DIONISIO JR & PEARLY & 
HAYDEE & ELIZABETH 
6025 NW 52 TERRACE 
GAINESVILLE, FL 32601 
 

CRANFORD JOE S 
41 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

ALBA ROSARIO LENI 
5029 N RUTHERFORD 
CHICAGO, IL 60656 
 

CALDERON JOSE R 
37 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

DASILVA RUI 
922 GRANDVIEW AVE 
UNION, NJ 07083 
 

ALCHIN FLORY 
1465 OXFORD DRIVE 
BUFFALO GROVE, IL 60089 
 

CARDINALE FRANK & DEBORAH 
21 LLOSHIRE PATH A 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

DAVENPORT JUSTIN & HILARY 
42 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

 
ANGELICO THOMAS & GERALYN 
PO BOX 352917 
PALM COAST, FL 32135 
 
 

CARTER DARYL M TRUSTEE 
PO BOX 568821 
ORLANDO, FL 32856 
 

DELATORRE LEON 
1030 SW 75TH AVE 
MIAMI, FL 33144 
 

BANK OF NEW YORK 
1600 SOUTH DOUGLAS RD STE 200-A 
ANAHEIM, CA 92806 
 

CARVALHO MANUELA & JOSE 
1200 MORRIS AVE FL 2 
UNION, NJ 07083 
 

DEVINE THOMAS & SHANEY 
7 LLORET PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

BARKDALE JEFFREY & STACY 
11 LLOVERA PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

CITY OF PALM COAST 
160 LAKE AVENUE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

DFC GRAND LANDINGS 
14701 PHILIPS HIGHWAY SUITE 300 
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32256 
 

BARRY WILLIAM 
27 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

CORPUZ FAY CABALLES 
29 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

DICKENSON DAVID THOMAS 
2001 WESTHEIMER RD APT 455 
HOUSTON, TX 77098 
 

BEGTRUP ADAM & JESSICA H&W & 
THOMAS BEGTRUP 
7 LLOVERA PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

CORRALES FELIXBERTO 
105 SHANNON HILLS DRIVE 
WASHINGTON, IL 61571 
 

DICKINSON HAROLD III 
13 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

 128



DORZEMA FRANTSEAU & MARIE 
36 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

 GATES ROBERTS & MARY LOU H&W LIFE 
ESTATE 
21 LLOVERA PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

 
JANNICELLI JOSEPH A & ELITHE B 
555 STONEHAVEN DR 
TOWNSEND, DE 19734 
 

DR HORTON INC. 
4220 RACE TRACK ROAD SUITE 100 
ST JOHNS, FL 32259 
 

GILLETTE DANIEL 
2052 COLT DRIVE 
FARMINGTON, UT 84025 
 

JOCSON CYNTHIA 
26658 CALAROGA AVENUE 
HAYWARD, CA 94545 
 

DREAM FINDERS HOMES LLC 
14701 PHILIPS HIGHWAY SUITE 300 
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32256 
 

GILLIS GERRY A SR & AUDREY P 
7 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

KAHN CORY ALAN & BRENDA SUE 
30 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

ENCARNACAO JOAO & ANA 
219 MANHATTAN AVENUE 
WESTBURY, NY 11590 
 

GLACKIN LILIA 
9106 WALNUT LANE 
TINLEY PARK, IL 60487 
 

KANGAS CHRISTIAN 
37 REVILO AVENUE 
SHIRLEY, NY 11967 
 

EVANS TERRI D & TESSA U 
16 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

GODDARD JOSEPH R & BOBBIE JUNE 
34 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

KELLY FRANCIS A JR & GAIL F 
104 CARRIAGE HILL DRIVE 
NEWINGTON, CT 06111 
 

FLAGLER COUNTY 
1769 E MOODY BLVD BLDG 2 SUITE 302 
BUNNELL, FL 32110 
 

GREER MAYDA G 
16824 NW 77TH PATH 
HIALEAH, FL 33016 
 

KENNEDY KURT JASON & PATRICIA 
MICHELLE H&W 
44 FRANCISCAN LANE 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

FRANKUS NICHOLAS 
31550 S HENACRES DRIVE 
MOLALLA, OR 97038 
 

HALCKISHAK KIRALYNA 
5 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

KLINE ROBERT & CHERYL H&W 
61 WASHINGTON STREET 
STONEHAM, MA 02180 
 

FRISENDA MICHAEL NICHOLAS TRUSTEE 
PO BOX 1108 
EAST SETAUKET, NY 11733 
 

HENRY HEATHER MICHELLE & RYAN 
10 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

KREYMBORG SEAN & DAMARIS H&W 
15 LLOVERA PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

GARCIA JUAN & SHIRLEY M 
11 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

HOLIDAY BUILDERS INC 
2293 W EAU GALLIE BLVD 
MELBOURNE, FL 32935 
 

LEONARD DONALD J & NANCY 
13 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

GARCIA-JIMENEZ KAREN 
18 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

HUTCHERSON CONSTANCE & RICHARD 
235 S RIVERWALK DR 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

LONGO DEBORAH & DONALD W&H 
PO BOX 882 
ALLOWAY, NJ 08001 
 

 129



LUCERO NELIE A 
5557 SHOREVIEW DR 
RANCHO PALOS VERDES, CA 90275 
 

 
NASSI ALBERT T TRUSTEE 
340 WESTLAKE BLVD STE 260 
THOUSAND OAKS, CA 91362 
 

 
SCHEIBER MICHAEL A LIFE ESTATE 
16 LLOVERA PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

LYLE JAMES & NINA 
35 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

NOVOTNA LUBOSLAVA & BEDRICH 
1 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

SCHWARZ KATIE E 
45 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

MACKINSON KIRK & CHRIS 
75 LOPEZ ROAD 
CEDAR GROVE, NJ 07009 
 

OEGERLE THOMAS D 
2 LLOWICK CT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

SG FLAGLER HOLDINGS LLC 
185 CYPRESS POINT PKWY SUITE 7 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

MARCHANT NORMAN K 
5 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

OGBORN WILLIAM LESLEY 
6 LLOWICK COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

SMITH BILLY W 
19 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

MASTROPIERRO JOSEPH N 
21 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

PHIPPS CURTIS & KAREN H&W 
9 LLORET PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

SMITH TIMOTHY & LINETTE H&W & 
15 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

MAXEY JESSE J & 
9 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

PROPERTY POTENTIAL LLC 
2926 HAMMOCK BEACH PKWY 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

SOUTHERN IMPRESSION HOMES LLC 
5711 RICHARD STREET SUITE 1 
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32216 
 

MAYBANK THOMAS 
161 LYNDIA MARIE LANE 
MASONVILLE, NY 13804 
 

RAPOSO FELIX N 
1808 NW 16TH STREET 
MIAMI, FL 33125 
 

STARLING THOMAS N SR & GAIL 
38 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

MCCORMICK-PARKINS BRIGET 
6 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

RISO JOHN L & STEPHANIE J H&W 
9 LLOVERA PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

STOPKA WALTER 
145 HIGH CREST DR 
WEST MILFORD, NJ 07480 
 

METCALF MARVIN 
30711 ROMERO CANYON 
CASTAIC, CA 91384 
 

ROCHA JOSE CARLOS 
41 MULOCK PLACE 
HARRISON, NJ 07029 
 

SW PROPERTY HOLDINGS LLC 
2379 BEVILLE ROAD 
DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32119 
 

MID FLORIDA HOUSING 
1834 MASON AVE 
DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32117 
 

RUGER RICHARD LOUIS JR 
7 LLOSEE COURT 
PALM COAST, FL 32137 
 

TOMPKINS MONA M & JOHN L 
23 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

 130



TORRES ROBERTO & INES LOZANO 
31 LLOSHIRE PATH 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

 

 

 

 

WEHDE MICHAEL & HOLLY H&W 
405 LAMBERT AVE 
FLAGLER BEACH, FL 32136 
 

  

WOLFE RONALD E & SHELBY K TERRY-
WOLFE H&W 
50 LLOYD TRAIL 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

  

ZERRAHN RICHARD & NANCY H&W 
20 LLOVERA PLACE 
PALM COAST, FL 32164 
 

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

 131



132



133



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: October 20, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount
Item Key 12242 Account 

#

Subject AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- 
ACRES OF PROPERTY FROM RESIDENTIAL LOW-DENSITY AND 
CONSERVATION (COUNTY DESIGNATIONS) TO RESIDENTIAL AND 
CONSERVATION (CITY DESIGNATIONS) ALONG WITH POLICY TO LIMIT 
DEVELOPMENT TO 217UNITS

Presenter : Jose Papa, Senior Planner

Background : The subject area is an approximately 141.5 +/- acre site located .6 miles north of 
State Road 100 on the eastside of Roberts Rd. The subject property was annexed into the City 
of Palm Coast in August of 2021. Consistent with state law, this application proposes to 
designate the subject property with an appropriate City designation on the Future Land Use 
Map and Zoning Map. 

The applicant is proposing a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) Amendment to amend the 
designation of the subject property from Flagler County Designations of Residential Low-
Density and Conservation to City of Palm Coast designations of Residential (120+/- acres) and 
Conservation (21+/- acres), along with a site specific policy to limit development to 217 dwelling 
units. In addition to the FLUM amendment, there is a companion zoning map amendment that 
will change the zoning designation of the property from Flagler County Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) to City designation of Single-family Residential-1 (SFR-1) and Preservation 
(PRS). 

The proposed amendment was reviewed for the following:

 Public Facilities Impact/Availability. Consistent with the required analysis to compare
the proposed land use designation with the existing land use designation, staff
conducted a maximum potential development analysis for public facilities and
infrastructure. The proposed amendment will limit development on the property to 217
dwelling units compared to 300 dwelling units which was part of the Flagler County
approved PUD approval. The reduction in number of potential dwelling units equates to
a reduction in the impact on public infrastructure and services.

 Impacts on the environmental/cultural resources. There are no additional
environmental impacts on the subject parcel since the amendment will not increase the
potential developable area of the site.

 Compatibility with surrounding land uses. The proposed FLUM designation does not
change the potential uses currently allowed on the site.

Finally the proposed amendment was reviewed and found to be consistent with comprehensive 
plan policies regarding:

134



 Not disproportionately increasing the cost or maintenance of public infrastructure, 
 Directing development where existing infrastructure is available,
 Promoting diversity in housing opportunities (variety of lot sizes with community 

amenities such as sidewalks, and private recreational amenities), 
 Designating urban densities only in areas that have sufficient or planned capacity for 

water and sewer, and
 Designating high quality wetlands as Conservation

Recommended Action: Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board (PLDRB) find Application #4867 consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
recommend that City Council approve Application #4867, a FLUM amendment from Flagler 
County Designations of Residential Low-Density and Conservation to City of Palm Coast 
designations of Residential and Conservation along with a policy to limit density on the subject 
property to 217 dwelling units.

 

135



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
FUTURE LAND USE MAP AMENDMENT

PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD
STAFF REPORT
October 20, 2021

OVERVIEW
Application #: 4867

Applicant: Jay Livingston as Agent

Size of subject property:  141.5+/- acres

Property Description/Location:  Approximately .6 miles north of State Road 100 on the eastside of 
Roberts Road   

Property Owner:  M. L. Carter Services Inc.

Real Estate ID #:  02-12-31-0000-01010-0151, 02-12-31-0000-01010-0141, 02-12-31-
0000-01010-0142, & 02-12-31-0000-01010-0152

Current FLUM Designation: Flagler County designations: Residential Low-Density, Conservation 
(there is a companion application to designate the subject property as 
Residential and Conservation)

Current Zoning Designation: Planned Unit Development

Current Use:  Vacant

Requested Action: This is a proposed FLUM amendment from the Flagler County 
Designations of Residential Low-Density and Conservation to City of 
Palm Coast designations of Residential (120+/- acres) and Conservation 
(21+/- acres) with a site specific policy to limit development on the subject 
property to 217 single-family dwelling units. 

There is a companion zoning map amendment that will change the 
zoning on the subject parcel from Planned Unit Development (Flagler 
County designation) to Single Family Residential-1, and Preservation.

 
Recommendation:   Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation 

Board (PLDRB) find Application #4867 consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and recommend that City Council approve 
Application #4867, a FLUM amendment from Flagler County 
Designations of Residential Low-Density and Conservation to City of 
Palm Coast designations of Residential and Conservation along with a 

136



Page 2 APPLICATION # 4867 

policy to limit density on the subject property to 217 dwelling units.

Project Planner: José Papa, AICP, Senior Planner

ANALYSIS
BACKGROUND
The application is for a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment for a 141.5 +/- acre area 
located approximately .6 miles north of State Road 100 on the eastside of Roberts Road.

The property is situated within the City of Palm Coast Utility Service Area. As required by City 
Code, requests for utility service (water and sewer) will require the annexation of the property with 
only certain exceptions. The property was annexed into the City on August 17, 2021 (by 
Ordinance #2021-15). 

The property is currently designated as Residential Low-Density (approximately 128 acres - 
permits 1 to 3 units/gross acre) and Conservation (approximately 13 acres) with a County zoning 
designation of Planned Unit Development (PUD).  

The proposed amendment will change the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation for the 
subject parcels from the stated Flagler County designations to City of Palm Coast designations 
of Residential and Conservation, along with a site specific policy to limit development on the 
property to 217 single-family residential units. 

There is a companion zoning map amendment to rezone the property from its current Flagler 
County designation of Planned Unit Development (PUD) to Single-family Residential (SFR-1) and 
Preservation (PRS). 

Neighborhood Meeting
As required by the Land Development Code, a neighborhood meeting was hosted by the 
applicant. Staff will provide a summary of the neighborhood meeting at the PLDRB public hearing.

DENSITY/INTENSITY AND POPULATION

Note: The analysis for comprehensive plan map amendments takes into consideration the 
maximum development potential under the current and proposed Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM) categories and represent the theoretical maximum development potential within 
the land use category. 

The City Residential FLUM designation permits a maximum of 12 dwelling units/acre, but as 
previously stated, there is a site specific policy to limit development to 217 dwelling units. 

The current FLUM designation of the property (Flagler County Residential Low-density) will allow 
up to 3 dwelling units/acre. However, for this analysis, the maximum number of units permitted 
by the approved PUD for the property (300 dwelling units) will be used.

As shown on Table 1 below there is a reduction of 83 dwelling units and a potential reduction of 
199 persons as a result of the FLUM amendment. 

137



Page 3 APPLICATION # 4867 

# of Acres
Maximum 
Density(1)

Maximum # of 
units(2),(3)

Population 
(2.4 

persons/dwel
ling unit)

Proposed FLUM: Residential (City designation) 120 12 du/acre 217 521
Conservation 21 0 du/acre 0 0

Current FLUM: Residential Low-Density 
(Flagler County designation)

128 3 du/acre 300 720

Conservation 13 0 du/acre 0 0
NET CHANGE 0 -83 -199
Footnotes:
(1) M aximumdensities are established by Comprehensive Plan Policy.
(2) M aximumdensities are established by Comprehensive Plan Policy or based on approved PUD.
(3) M aximum density for proposed amendment is 217 dwelling units.

TABLE 1 - FLUM DESIGNATION MAXIMUM DENSITY/INTENSITY ALLOWED
(RESIDENTIAL USE)

PUBLIC FACILITIES AVAILABILITY /IMPACT ANALYSIS (BASED ON THEORETICAL 
YIELD OF MAXIMUM DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL)
Objective 1.1.3-Evaluation of Amendments to the FLUM
Review proposed amendments to the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) based upon environmental 
conditions, the availability of facilities and services, school capacity, compatibility with surrounding 
uses, and other generally accepted land use planning principles.
Policy 1.1.3.2 - At a minimum, infrastructure availability and capacity, specified as follows, shall 
be considered when evaluating proposed FLUM amendments:

A. Existing and future capacity of roadways based on functional classifications and best 
available data for traffic modeling.  For the purposes of evaluating capacity, roadway 
improvements programmed in the FDOT 5-year Work Plan or listed in either the City or 
the County 5-year Capital Improvement Program shall be considered.

B. Large-scale, high-intensity commercial projects shall be concentrated at intersections of 
the following arterials

C. Existing and future availability and capacity of central utility systems.
D. Availability and capacity of receiving watercourses and drainage systems to convey 

design storm events.

PUBLIC FACILITIES CAPACITY/IMPACT ANALYSIS
As previously stated the analysis for comprehensive plan map amendments takes into 
consideration the maximum development potential under the current and proposed land use 
category and represents the theoretical net difference between the maximum development 
potential within the existing and proposed land use categories. The current FLUM designation of 
Flagler County Residential Low-Density permits up to 3 dwelling units/acre. However, since the 
subject parcel was previously approved as a PUD, staff will conduct a comparison based on 300 
residential dwelling units as approved in the PUD. The proposed FLUM of Residential will include 
a policy to limit development to 217 single-family dwelling units. The analysis of theoretical net 
difference is provided in Table 2 below.

Transportation

138



Page 4 APPLICATION # 4867 

The proposed FLUM amendment will result in a net decrease of 83 peak hour trips. A more in-
depth traffic study will be required as part of the site plan/plat review process.

Potable Water
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease in demand for 
potable water of .025 MGD. As part of the site plan/plat review process, the property owner and/or 
developer will need to coordinate with the City of Palm Coast Utility Department to determine the 
appropriate engineering requirements (size of water line, pump stations, etc.) for potable water 
service. 
Wastewater
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease in demand for 
sanitary sewer treatment of .016 MGD. As part of the site plan/plat review process, the property 
owner and/or developer will need to coordinate with the City of Palm Coast Utility Department to 
determine the appropriate engineering requirements (size of sewer line, lift stations, etc.) for 
wastewater service. 
Solid Waste
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease of 1,715 lbs. of 
solid waste per day. The City currently has an interlocal agreement with Volusia County for solid 
waste disposal. There is adequate capacity at the Volusia County landfill to accommodate the 
additional demand.
Public Recreation and Open Space 
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a maximum potential net decrease in demand of 1.6 
acres of park facilities. The City currently has adequate capacity to accommodate the additional 
demand.
Public Schools  
The proposed FLUM amendment will have a potential net decrease in demand of 21 student 
stations. At the time of site plan review/plat process, the property owner and/or developer will 
need to coordinate with the School district to determine the current availability of student stations.  
Stormwater
N/A. Stormwater treatment facilities are reviewed for consistency with LOS during site plan 
review.

139



Page 5 APPLICATION # 4867 

*Proposed FLUM amendment will include site specific policy to limit development to 217 single-family dwelling units. 

Density(1)

# of units or 
square feet 

of 
development

Transportation 
(PHT)(2)

Potable Water 
(GPD)(3)

Sanitary Sewer 
(GPD)(4)

Solid Waste 
(lbs./day)(5)

Recreation 
and Parks 
(8 acres/ 

1000 
pop.)(6)

Public 
Education 

(students)(7)
Stormwater 
Drainage(8)

Residential (120.2+/- ac.) 12 du/acre 217 217 65100 42706 4484 4.2 53 N/A
Conservation (21.3+/- ac.) 0 du/acre

Total 217 65100 42706 4484 4 53 N/A

Residential Low-Density (3 units/acre) 300 300 90000 59040 6199 5.8 74 N/A
Conservation (13+/- ac.) 0 du/acre ** ** ** ** ** **

Total 300 90000 59040 6199 6 74

Net Change -83 -24,900 -16,334 -1,715 -1.6 -21 N/A

Footnotes:

(8) Stormwater/Drainage: Stormwater Treatment will be reviewed for consistency with adopted LOS, during site plan approval process. 

(6)  Recreation and Parks: Residential Demand = # of units * 2.40 *8 acres/1000 persons 
(7)  Public Education Residential: = Based on multiplier provided by Flagler County School District. 

(5) Solid Waste: Residential Demand =  # of units*2.40*8.61 lbs/capita/day

Table 2 Public Facilities Impact Analysis

Proposed FLUM designation*

Current FLUM designation* Analysis uses the entitlements provided in the previously approved PUD agreement for the properties.

(1) Calculation of Density: Lot Size (acre)*# of units/acre

(3)  Potable Water: Residential = # of units*2.4*125 gallons/capita/day
(4) Wastewater: Residential = # of units*2.4*82 gallons/capita/day

(2) Transportation: Residential PM Peak Hour Trips (PHT), Residential Development:  = # of units*1.0 PM-PHT (Average Rate), ITE Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition

ENVIRONMENTAL/CULTURAL RESOURCES ANALYSIS
Objective 1.1.3-Evaluation of Amendments to the FLUM
Review proposed amendments to the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) based upon environmental 
conditions, the availability of facilities and services, school capacity, compatibility with surrounding 
uses, and other generally accepted land use planning principles.
Policy 1.1.3.1- At a minimum, the following environmental factors shall be evaluated each time 
FLUM amendments are proposed:

A. Topography and soil conditions including the presence of hydric soils.
B. Location and extent of floodplains and the Coastal Planning Area, including areas subject 

to seasonal or periodic flooding.
C. Location and extent of wetlands, certain vegetative communities, and protected wildlife 

species.
D. Location and extent of other environmentally sensitive features.
E. Proximity to wellfields and aquifer recharge areas.
F. Impacts to potable water supply.

The following sections discuss site conditions and original application materials.  Staff has 
evaluated this information and established the following findings.  

A. TOPOGRAPHY AND SOIL CONDITIONS 

 The analysis area is vacant and naturally vegetated. The site is bounded by Roberts Road to the 
west, vacant land to the south and north, and the Intracoastal Waterway to the east. According to 
the August 2021 Environmental Resource Solutions (ERS) assessment, the land use proposal 
area does contain wetlands; the total analysis area contains 108.59 acres of uplands and 33.27 
acres of wetlands. The wetlands detailed on ERS “Wetland Flagging Map” Figure, reflect the 

140



Page 6 APPLICATION # 4867 

boundaries that were delineated in the field pursuant to state and federal guidelines (Chapter 62-
340 F.A.C. and the 1987 Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual). Further description 
of these features may be found in the Section C, Vegetative Communities. 

No soil types were provided with the ERS report. Staff researched and found five (5) soil types 
within the project boundary. 

Analysis: There are no indicators of unique topographical reliefs or soils that would be 
affected by the FLUM change. 

FINDING: It is not anticipated that the proposed FLUM change from Low Density 
Residential (County) and Conservation (County) to Residential (City) and Conservation 
(City) will negatively impact the local topography or prevent the proposed development 
permissible within the FLUM designation.

B. FLOODPLAINS

No floodplain information was provided in the ERS report. Federal Emergency 
Management Agency’s (FEMA), Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) source indicates that 
the subject property lies within some Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) and non-SFHA. 

Analysis: Areas shown in SFHA are proposed for Conservation and will not be built on. 

FINDING: It is not anticipated that the proposed FLUM change will negatively impact the 
function of a SFHA.

C. VEGETATIVE COMMUNITIES

According to the ERS report, the assessment area is comprised of the following vegetative 
community types and features. 
1. Upland Scrub, Pine and Hardwoods (436): 108.59 acres 
2. Wetland Coniferous Forest (620): 33.27 acres 

Analysis: There are wetlands located on the property and any impacts will need to be 
permitted through either St. Johns River Water Management District (SJRWMD) or the 
Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP). State 404 permitting used to go 
through the Army Corps of Engineers but has since been transferred to the FDEP. Any 
wetland impacts proposed through this program will now go through FDEP. 

FINDING: There is no anticipated additional impact from the proposed amendment. The 
proposed amendment does not propose to expand the development area on the subject 
property.

D. PROTECTED SPECIES DISTRIBUTION/ WILDLIFE UTILIZATION

The submitted ERS report documents that two (2) species of listed or management status 
have high or moderate likelihood of occurrence with the site area. 

Analysis: The subject property is suitable for foraging and mobility. Wildlife utilization may 
change over time due to various factors. To ensure that the referenced species and any 
potentially occurring species in the future, the Unified Land Development Code (Section 
10.04.03.A, LDC) requires that a listed species study is performed by a Qualified 
Environmental Professional (QEP) at site plan or preliminary plat. Further, a study is valid 

141



Page 7 APPLICATION # 4867 

for one year for the property that was investigate to capture any changes in wildlife 
utilization. 

FINDING: The proposed land use change is not anticipated to impact listed species. There 
is no expansion to the footprint of development area.

E. GROUNDWATER RESOURCE PROTECTION

According to City maintained data, the nearest production well is not within 500 feet of the 
site but is 3 miles to the southwest. The site is not located within the Secondary Protection 
Zone or the Primary Protection Zone as defined by Section 10.03.02.B, LDC. 

Analysis: The amendment is not within an aquifer recharge area or within a wellhead 
protection zone(s). 

FINDING: The proposed land use change is not anticipated to impact groundwater 
resources.

F. HISTORICAL RESOURCES

A Phase I report from Dana Ste. Claire report provided the history of the site and noted no 
cultural resources on site.
 
Analysis: According to the information provided by Dana Ste. Claire, impacts to historical 
or archaeological resources are not anticipated as no sites were located. 

FINDING: The proposed land use change is not anticipated to impact cultural and 
historical resources.

LAND USE COMPATIBILITY ANALYSIS

Policy 1.1.3.3 – At a minimum, compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns shall 
be considered when evaluating proposed FLUM amendments.

A. This policy shall not be construed to mean that different categories of uses are inherently 
incompatible; rather, it is intended to promote the use of transitional areas where densities 
and intensities can be appropriately scaled.

B. Buffers are encouraged as an effective means of transition between areas where there is 
a greater degree of disparity in terms of densities and intensities.

C. Impacts to the health, safety, and welfare of surrounding residents shall be considered.

Surrounding Future Land Use Map Designation:
North: Residential-Low Density (Flagler County Designation) 
South: Mixed Use (Flagler Beach designation 18 du/acre)
East:  Residential (Flagler County & Flagler Beach designation)
West: Mixed Use (City of Palm Coast)

Surrounding Zoning Designation:
North: PUD (Flagler County)
South: PUD (Flagler Beach-Single-family residential)
East: Single Family Residential (Flagler County & Flagler Beach designation) 
West: Master Planned Development (City designation – Residential uses) 

Surrounding Property Existing Uses:

142



Page 8 APPLICATION # 4867 

North: Vacant
South: Vacant
East: Vacant
West:  Vacant

The proposed FLUM amendment is adjacent to an Industrial designated area to the north. 
Properties to the east, west, and south are mainly designated for residential development but are 
currently vacant at this time. Additionally, the properties to the east are part of wetlands that are 
adjacent to the Intracoastal Waterway. The proposed amendment will designate the wetlands on 
the subject property to Conservation to serve as buffer between the developed areas and the 
Intracoastal Waterway.

CONSISTENCY WITH COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
In addition to being consistent with Objective 1.1.3 and Policy 1.1.3.3 which establishes the 
criteria for review of Future Land Use Map Amendments as provided in the previous section. The 
proposed amendment is consistent with the following policies in the Comprehensive Plan:

Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not disproportionately 
increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well as providing housing and 
transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

Analysis: The proposed amendment is consistent with Policy 1.1.4.5, the proposed FLUM 
amendment is within an established area served by water, and sewer. The site is .6 miles 
north of State Road 100 and the commercial uses available along State Road 100. A 
sidewalk system adjacent to the site will provide opportunity for residents to ride or walk 
to the commercial uses and amenities along State Road 100 or to Flagler Beach. 

Policy 1.3.1.1 - The City shall ensure that the location and timing of new development is 
coordinated with the provision of public facilities through the use of growth management 
measures being included in the LDC such as development phasing, programming, and 
appropriate sizing of public facilities.

Policy 1.3.1.3 – the City shall encourage development to locate in the areas where public facilities, 
infrastructure, and services are available. Where there are deficiencies and where appropriate, 
the City shall require the developer to provide or extend the facilities as necessary to 
accommodate development. Applicable impact fees shall be used by the City consistent with 
State law to offset the costs of the city providing facilities. 

Analysis: The proposed amendment is consistent with Policies 1.3.1.1 & 1.3.1.3. The 
impacts of the proposed FLUM amendment can be accommodated by the existing 
infrastructure capacity. Additionally, the amendment is located within the City’s utility 
service area and is served by an existing water and sewer line. Any need to extend water 
or wastewater lines to serve development on the subject parcel will be the responsibility 
of the developer/property owner.

Objective 3.4.1 – Diversity in Housing Opportunities - Increase the diversity of the housing types, 
prices, and opportunities

Policy 3.4.1.1 – Through the FLUM and the zoning district regulations of the LDC, the City shall 
make provisions to supply land that can be developed with various types of residential uses, 
including single-family homes of various sizes, duplexes, multi-family dwellings, and residential 
units in mixed use developments

143



Page 9 APPLICATION # 4867 

Analysis: The proposed amendment will allow the potential to diversify the housing 
opportunities in the City consistent with the Objective and Policy stated above. The 
proposed FLUM amendment along with the companion Zoning Map amendment will 
provide an opportunity to provide residential units in a “planned development community” 
that will provide private amenities such as sidewalks, parks for use by residents within the 
subdivision development.

Policy 5.1.3.2 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for potable water facilities and 
wastewater facilities where connection is available consistent with Policies 1.1.1.2 and 1.1.3.2. 
For the purposes of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one (1) dwelling unit per acre 
shall be deemed to be an urban density.

Analysis: The proposed amendment to Residential is consistent with Comprehensive Plan 
policy to create urban densities or intensities in areas that have sufficient existing or 
planned capacity for potable water and wastewater facilities.

Policy 5.2.2.3 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for sanitary sewer facilities and 
where connection is available as set forth in State law and City regulations. The City shall 
minimize the use of septic tanks in accordance with the provisions of Objective 5.2.3 and policies 
implementing that objective. For the purpose of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one 
(1) dwelling unit per acre shall be deemed to be an urban density.

Analysis: The proposed amendment to Residential land use designation is consistent with 
Comprehensive Plan policy above to designate urban densities or intensities in areas that 
have sufficient existing or planned capacity for sanitary sewer facilities.

Policy 6.1.9.9 - The Conservation future land use designations shall be established on the FLUM 
to provide protection of wetland systems and other environmental sensitive lands. This FLUM 
designation provides for preservation of large interconnected high quality wetland systems and 
other high quality environmentally sensitive areas. Conservation areas are generally a minimum 
of 10 acres in size, with most being substantially larger. Other areas, which may be classified 
conservation, include natural water bodies and lakes, estuaries, oak hammocks and other large 
areas consisting of native vegetation areas, wildlife corridors, and aquifer recharge zones. Unlike 
most of the other land use designations that follow property lines, the boundaries of most areas 
assigned this land use designation have been drawn to encompass the environmentally sensitive 
area using best available aerial mapping data and will require field verification to determine 
wetland quality and boundaries with precision.

Analysis: The proposed amendment includes the designation of approximately 21 acres 
of high quality wetlands as Conservation. These wetlands are located on the eastern 
boundary of the subject property and abut the Intracoastal Waterway. The amendment is 
consistent with this policy. 

Policy 6.1.10.6 - The City shall protect its environmentally sensitive areas that include, but are not 
limited to, large interconnected wetland systems, by utilizing the Conservation land use 
designation. The Conservation land use designation, as well as the Preservation Zoning 
classification, shall be utilized by the City, as appropriate, for the purpose of protecting high quality 
wetlands, lakes, designated hammock areas and other environmentally sensitive areas.

144



Page 10 APPLICATION # 4867 

Analysis: As previously discussed, the proposed amendment includes the designation of 
approximately 21 acres as Conservation. These lands are located on the eastern boundary 
of the subject property and abut the marshlands located on the westside of the Intracoastal 
Waterway. The amendment is consistent with this policy and will further be reflected in the 
companion Zoning map amendment which proposes to designate the 21 acres as 
Preservation on the Zoning Map. 

RECOMMENDATION
 
Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) find 
Application #4867 consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommend that City Council 
approve Application #4867, a FLUM amendment from Flagler County Designations of Residential 
Low-Density and Conservation to City of Palm Coast designations of Residential and 
Conservation along with a policy to limit density on the subject property to 217 dwelling units.

145



Ordinance No. 2021-XX

Page 1 of 5

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-________
GRAND RESERVE EAST COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 

(APPLICATION #4867)

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
PALM COAST, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT 
OF THE CITY OF PALM COAST 2035 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, 
AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, PURSUANT TO SECTION 163, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE 
MAP (FLUM) DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- ACRES OF CERTAIN 
REAL PROPERTY FROM  RESIDENTIAL LOW DENSITY & 
CONSERVATION (FLAGLER COUNTY DESIGNATION) TO 
RESIDENTIAL AND CONSERVATION (CITY OF PALM COAST 
DESIGNATION) AS DESCRIBED IN MORE DETAIL IN THE 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION WHICH IS AN EXHIBIT TO THIS 
ORDINANCE INCLUDING A SITE SPECIFIC POLICY TO LIMIT 
DEVELOPMENT ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTIES TO 217 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL UNITS; PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICTS, RATIFICATION OF PRIOR ACTS, 
CODIFICATION, SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast enacted Ordinance 2010-

07, adopting the  City of Palm Coast 2035 Comprehensive Plan which includes the City 

of Palm Coast Future Land Use Map (FLUM), which Plan and FLUM have been 

amended from time-to-time; and 

WHEREAS, Section 163.3161 et seq., Florida Statutes established the 

Community Planning Act; and

WHEREAS, Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes, establishes a process for 

adoption of comprehensive plans or plan amendments amending the future land use 

designation of property; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast is desirous of amending the future land use 

designation of property located within the City from Flagler County Designation of 

Residential Low-Density and Conservation to City of Palm Coast designation of 

Residential and Conservation; and

WHEREAS, the proposed future land use map amendment will include a note on 

the Future Land Use Map to limit development on the subject property to 217 single-

family residential units; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast Planning and Land Development Regulation 

Board (PLDRB) acting as the City’s Local Planning Agency, considered the proposed 

146



Ordinance No. 2021-XX

Page 2 of 5

map amendments at a public hearing on October 20, 2021 and voted to recommend  

Approval/Denial of the proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment; and 

WHEREAS, on ___________________ and _____________, 2021 the City of 

Palm Coast City Council held public hearings on this Comprehensive Plan amendment 

after due public notice and upon thorough and complete consideration and deliberation, 

adopted the proposed Comprehensive Plan amendment; and

WHEREAS,  the Comprehensive Plan amendments adopted by this Ordinance 

complies with the requirements of the Community Planning Act, the State 

Comprehensive Plan as set forth in Chapter 187, Florida Statutes, as well as other 

applicable law, and is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies and the overall 

land use plan of the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast hereby reaffirms its 

commitment to the goal of enacting and implementing sound growth management 

practices within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast finds that this Ordinance 

is in the best interests of the health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Palm Coast.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
PALM COAST, FLORIDA, THAT THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP IS 
AMENDED AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. LEGISLATIVE AND ADMINISTRATIVE FINDINGS.

The above recitals (whereas clauses) are hereby adopted as the legislative and 

administrative findings of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast.

SECTION 2. FUTURE LAND USE MAP AMENDED.  

The 141.5+/- acres subject area, generally located .6 miles north of State Road 

100 and east of Roberts Rd., as depicted and legally described in “Exhibit A”, attached 

hereto, is hereby amended from Flagler County Designations of Residential Low-Density 

and Conservation to City of Palm Coast designation of Residential and Conservation with 

a note on the FLUM limiting the subject property to 217 dwelling units/acre as depicted 

on “Exhibit B”.

SECTION 3. CONFLICTS. 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 4. CODIFICATION. 

147



Ordinance No. 2021-XX

Page 3 of 5

It is the intention of the City Council of the City of Palm Coast, Florida, and it is 

hereby ordained that the provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of 

the Code of Ordinance of the City of Palm Coast, Florida; that the Sections of this 

Ordinance may be renumbered or re-lettered to accomplish such intention; that the word, 

“Ordinance” may be changed to Section,” “Article,” or other appropriate word.

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or provision of this Ordinance 

is held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, 

such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not be construed as to render unconstitutional 

or invalid the remaining provision of the Ordinance.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

The effective date of this plan amendment, if the amendment is not timely 

challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies the local 

government that the plan amendment package is complete. If timely challenged, this 

amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning agency or the 

Administration Commission enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance. No development orders, development permits, or land uses dependent 

on this amendment may be issued or commence before it has become effective. If a final 

order of noncompliance is issued by the Administration Commission, this amendment 

may nevertheless be made effective by adoption of a resolution affirming its effective 

status, a copy of which resolution shall be sent to the state land planning agency. 

APPROVED on first reading after due public notice and hearing the ____ day of 

_______, 2021.

ADOPTED on second reading after due public notice and hearing the ____ day 

of ____________, 2021.

ATTEST: CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

_________________________ ______________________________

Virginia Smith, City Clerk David Alfin, Mayor

148



Ordinance No. 2021-XX

Page 4 of 5

EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER 

COUNTY, FLORIDA, BEING A PORTION OF BUNNELL DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S 

LAND AT BUNNELL FLORIDA, RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 1, PAGE 1, AND BEING A 

PORTION OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED AND RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS 

BOOK 1973, PAGE 339, ALL OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF SAID COUNTY, BEING 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF 

LOT 35, RIVER OAKS, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN MAP 

BOOK 27, PAGES 15 THROUGH 17 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS, SAID CORNER LYING 

ON THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED AND RECORDED IN 

OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 2092, PAGE 1226, OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS; THENCE 

SOUTH 88°13’31” WEST, ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE, 42.48 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWESTERLY CORNER THEREOF; THENCE SOUTH 01°05’50” EAST, ALONG THE 

WESTERLY LINE THEREOF, AND ITS SOUTHERLY PROLONGATION, 1319.27 FEET 

TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED AND RECORDED 

IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 2027, PAGE 98 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS; THENCE 

NORTH 88°58’17” EAST, ALONG THE SOUTHERLY LINE THEREOF, 456.54 FEET TO 

THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF LOT 34, OF SAID RIVER OAKS; THENCE SOUTH 

16°32’49” EAST, ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID RIVER OAKS, 1387.30 FEET 

TO THE NORTHEASTERLY CORNER OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED AS EAST 

PARCEL AND RECORDED IN SAID OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1973, PAGE 339; 

THENCE SOUTH 88°27’11” WEST, ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE THEREOF, 2017.46 

FEET TO A POINT LYING ON THE EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ROBERTS 

ROAD, AN 80 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS PRESENTLY ESTABLISHED, SAID POINT 

LYING ON A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY HAVING A 

RADIUS OF 1459.72 FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, THROUGH A 

CENTRAL ANGLE OF 13°04’29”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 333.10 FEET TO A POINT ON 

SAID CURVE, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY A CHORD BEARING AND 

DISTANCE OF NORTH 28°56’25” WEST, 332.38 FEET; THENCE NORTH 22°24’01” WEST, 

CONTINUING ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG A NON-

TANGENT LINE, 2403.92 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF THOSE LANDS 

DESCRIBED AND RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 2093, PAGE 791, OF SAID 

PUBLIC RECORDS; THENCE NORTH 67°12’59” EAST, DEPARTING SAID EASTERLY 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF LAST SAID 

LANDS, 2228.20 FEET TO THE SOUTHEASTERLY CORNER THEREOF, SAID CORNER 

LYING ON THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID RIVER OAKS; THENCE SOUTH 16°46’29” 

EAST, ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE, 710.04 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

CONTAINING 141.47 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

149



Ordinance No. 2021-XX

Page 5 of 5

EXHIBIT B
AMENDED FUTURE LAND USE MAP

Property Subject to Application #4867 is limited to 217 dwelling units

150



Grand Reserve East

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Boundary

Map Provided by Planning Division
µ0 1,750 3,500875

Feet 151



Park

Mixed Use Overlay

Low Density

Commercial

Salt Water Marsh

Undefined

Medium Density

RES-LOW-RE

IND

MUH

COM-HIGH

CONS

CONS

CONS

Mixed Use

Residential

Conservation

RECREATION & OPEN SPACE

Grand Reserve East - Existing FLUM

±
0 750 1,500375

Feet

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Grand Reserve East

Palm Coast FLUM
Conservation

Mixed Use

RECREATION & OPEN SPACE

Residential

Flagler FLUM
COMMERCIAL:  HIGH INTENSITY

CONSERVATION

INDUSTRIAL

MIXED USE: HIGH INTENSITY

RESIDENTIAL:  LOW DENSITY / RURAL ESTATE

Flagler Beach FLUM
Commercial

Low Density

Medium Density

Mixed Use Overlay

Park

Salt Water Marsh

Undefined

Map Provided by Planning Division
152



Residential

Conservation

Park

Salt Water Marsh

Mixed Use Overlay

Low Density

Undefined

Commercial

Medium Density

IND

COM-HIGH

CONS

MUH

RES-LOW-RE

CONS

RES-LOW-RE

RES-LOW-RE

CONS

Mixed Use

Residential

RECREATION & OPEN SPACE

Grand Reserve East - Proposed FLUM

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Boundary

Palm Coast FLUM
FLUM Category

CONSERVATION

Conservation

Mixed Use

RECREATION & OPEN SPACE

Res: Low Density/Rural Estate

Residential

Flagler FLUM
LandUse

Com: High Intensity

CONSERVATION

Industrial

Mixed Use: High Intensity

Res: Low Density/Rural Estate

Flagler Beach FLUM
FLU

Commercial

Low Density

Medium Density

Mixed Use Overlay

Park

Salt Water Marsh

Undefined
Map Provided by Planning Division
µ

0 875 1,750437.5
Feet

153

JPapa
Text Box
Property Subject to Application #4867 is limited to 217 dwelling units



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: October 20, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount
Item Key 12243 Account 

#

Subject AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- ACRES FROM 
COUNTY DESIGNATION OF PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) TO CITY 
DESIGNATION OF SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1 (SFR-1) AND 
PRESERVATION (PRS)

Presenter : Jose Papa, Senior Planner

Background: This subject parcel is an approximately 141 acre parcel located approximately .6 
miles north of State Road 100 on the eastside of Roberts Road. The proposed amendment will 
amend the zoning designation from Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) to City of Palm Coast designations of Single Family Residential (SFR-1) and 
Preservation (PRS).  

This application is a companion application to a proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendment to 
change the subject property’s designation from Residential-Low Density and Conservation to 
Residential and Conservation along with a site specific policy to limit development to 217 
dwelling units. 

Staff analyzed the proposed rezoning based on the criteria in the City of Palm Coast Land 
Development Code. In summary, staff makes the following findings:

- the proposed rezoning is not in conflict or contrary to the public interest, the zoning
change to SFR-1 and PRS does not introduce new uses on the subject property, these
uses are consistent with the anticipated uses to the south and west,

- the proposed rezoning is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, the proposed rezoning
will reduce impacts on public infrastructure and services, is located in an area served by
existing utilities, provides an opportunity to diversify the housing options in the City, and
protects high-quality wetlands as called out by Comprehensive Plan policy,

- the proposed rezoning will not create additional impact on the environment since the site
was already previously designated for single-family development under the current
zoning district, on the contrary, the amendment will protect a greater amount of
environmentally sensitive lands, and

- the proposed amendment will not relieve the development of needing to meet all other
applicable local, state, & federal permitting requirements.

154



Public Process
Neighborhood Meeting
Staff will provide a summary of the Neighborhood Meeting at the PLDRB Public Hearing.

Recommended Action: Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development 
Regulation Board (PLDRB) find the proposed rezoning (Application #4868) consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan and recommend that City Council approve the rezoning of 141.5+/- acres 
from Planned Unit Development (PUD) to the Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) and 
Preservation (PRS) zoning district.

 

155



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT
ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STAFF REPORT

PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD
October 20, 2021

OVERVIEW
Application Number: 4868

Applicant: Jay Livingston as Agent
Property Description: 141.5 +/- acres located .6 miles north of State Road 100 on the eastside 

of Roberts Rd.
Property Owner:  M.L. Carter Services Inc.

Parcel ID #: 02-12-31-0000-01010-0151, 02-12-31-0000-01010-0141, 02-12-31-
0000-01010-0142, & 02-12-31-0000-01010-0152

   Parcel Address: Not yet established
Current FLUM: Residential Low-Density and Conservation (Proposed for Residential and 

Conservation via FLUM Amendment)
Current Zoning: Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development (PUD)

Current Use: Vacant
Size of Property:  141.5 +/- acres

Requested Action: Rezoning from the Flagler County Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
Zoning District to the Single-Family Residential – 1 (SFR-1) Zoning 
District and Preservation Zoning District.

ANALYSIS
REQUESTED ACTION
Jay Livingston as Agent has applied to rezone 141.5+/- acres of vacant land located 
approximately .6 miles north of State Road 100 on the eastside of Roberts Rd. There is a 
companion Future Land Use Map Amendment application to change the Land Use designation 
of the subject property from Flagler County designation of Residential Low-Density and 
Conservation to Residential and Conservation along with a site specific policy to limit development 
to 217 single-family dwelling units.

BACKGROUND/SITE HISTORY
The property is situated within the City of Palm Coast Utility Service Area. As required by City 
Code, request for utility service (water and sewer) will require the annexation of the property with 
only certain exceptions. The property was annexed into the City on August 17, 2021 (by 
Ordinance #2021-15). 

The property is currently designated as Planned Unit Development (Flagler County designation). 
The proposed amendment will change the Zoning Map designation for the subject parcels from 
the stated Flagler County designation to City of Palm Coast designations of Single-Family 
Residential-1 (SFR-1) and Preservation. 

156



Page 2                                                                                               Application # 4868

The PUD was approved by Flagler County in June 2006 and amended in November 2007. The 
approved PUD permitted a total of 300 single-family detached or attached units. The attached 
units shall not exceed 20% of the total permitted lots nor shall 50’ detached lots exceed 15% of 
the total permitted lots. The PUD called for enhanced buffering at the north end of the property 
adjacent to the property owned at the time by Sea Ray. Additionally, the approved PUD plan 
called for open space area at the eastern boundary of the site adjacent to the Intracoastal 
Waterway.

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

As previously stated, the amendment proposes to change property’s zoning from Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) to Single-Family Residential – 1 (SFR-1) and Preservation (PRS). The 
proposed SFR-1 Zoning District allows for a minimum 50’ wide lots with minimum area of 6,000 
sq. ft. As part of the companion FLUM amendment, the development will be limited to a maximum 
of 217 dwelling units. Development regulations such as setbacks, open space, road widths, etc. 
will follow the City’s Land Development Code.

LAND USE AND ZONING INFORMATION

USE SUMMARY TABLE:
CATEGORY: EXISTING: PROPOSED:

Future Land Use Map 
(FLUM)

Residential Low-Density and 
Conservation (Flagler County 
designation)

Residential and Conservation 
(City designation) includes 
policy to limit development to 
217 dwelling units

Zoning District

Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) (Flagler County 
designation)

Single-family Residential-1 
(SFR-1) and Preservation (City 
designations)

Use Vacant land
Single-family community with 
amenities

Acreage 141.5 +/- acres 141.5 +/- acres 

SURROUNDING LAND USES:

  NORTH: FLUM: Residential-Low Density (Flagler County)
Zoning: Planned Unit Development (Flagler County)

    EAST: FLUM:             Residential (Flagler Beach and Flagler County Designation)
Zoning: Single Family residential (Flagler Beach and Flagler County 

Designation)

SOUTH: FLUM: Mixed Use (Flagler Beach designation)
Zoning: Planned Unit Development (Flagler Beach designation)

WEST:           FLUM: Mixed Use (Palm Coast Designation)  
Zoning:            Master Planned Development (MPD) (Palm Coast Designation)

SITE DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

157



Page 3                                                                                               Application # 4868

Criteria (Proposed Standards for 
SFR-1)

Min. Lot/Development Size 6,000 sq. ft. lot size
Min. Lot Width 50 ft.
Max. Impervious Surface Ratio 0.75
Min. Front Setback 20 ft.
Min. Rear Setback 10 ft.
Min. Interior Side Setback  5 ft.
Max. Building Height 35 ft.
Max. Floor Area Ratio NA
Max. Density* up to 7 units/per acre*

*Density in the Single-Family Residential - 1 (SFR-1) Zoning District is calculated based on Table 
3-3 and Section 3.05.03.A of the Land Development Code, which allow up to 7 units/per acre on 
upland areas and up to 1.75 units/per acre on wetland areas that are preserved. However, in this 
case the FLUM Amendment will restrict the number of units to 217 or about 1.8 dwelling 
units/acre.

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.05.05

The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.05 states: When reviewing 
a development order application, the approval authority shall determine whether sufficient factual 
data was presented in order to render a decision. The decision to issue a development order shall 
be based upon the following, including but not limited to:

A. The proposed development must not be in conflict with or contrary to the public interest;

Staff Finding: The proposed project with SFR-1 zoning is an allowed zoning district in areas 
designated Residential on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) and will not create a conflict with 
protecting public interest. The proposed zoning designation is compatible with other designations 
and existing uses adjacent to the subject property. 

B. The proposed development must be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the 
provisions of this LDC;

Staff Finding: The proposed zoning map amendment includes a companion Future Land Use 
Map amendment. The consistency of the proposed FLUM amendment with policies in the 
Comprehensive Plan are presented below as part of the analysis for the proposed zoning map 
amendment. 

Policy 1.1.1.2 – The future land use designations shall permit the zoning districts listed and 
generally described in the following table. 

Analysis: The proposed FLUM Amendment designates the subject property as Residential 
and Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) is an allowable zoning district for areas with the 
Residential designation on this FLUM table. 

Policy 1.1.4.5 – Land use patterns will be required to be efficient and not disproportionately 
increase the cost of providing and maintaining public facilities, as well as providing housing and 
transportation strategies that will foster energy conservation.

158



Page 4                                                                                               Application # 4868

Analysis: The proposed zoning map amendment is consistent with Policy 1.1.4.5, the 
expansion of residential uses adjacent to available water and sewer mains is appropriate.

Policy 1.3.1.1 - The City shall ensure that the location and timing of new development is 
coordinated with the provision of public facilities through the use of growth management 
measures being included in the LDC such as development phasing, programming, and 
appropriate sizing of public facilities.

Analysis: The proposed rezoning is consistent with Policy 1.3.1.1, the public facilities 
impacts can be accommodated by the existing infrastructure capacity. There are existing 
water and sewer mains adjacent to the property. 

Objective 3.4.1 – Diversity in Housing Opportunities - Increase the diversity of the housing types, 
prices, and opportunities

Policy 3.4.1.1 – Through the FLUM and the zoning district regulations of the LDC, the City shall 
make provisions to supply land that can be developed with various types of residential uses, 
including single-family homes of various sizes, duplexes, multi-family dwellings, and residential 
units in mixed use developments

Analysis: The proposed rezoning will allow the potential to diversify the housing 
opportunities in the City consistent with the Objective and Policy stated above. The 
proposed Zoning Map amendment will provide an opportunity for residential development 
within a newly platted subdivision that will provide private amenities such as sidewalks, 
parks for use by residents within the subdivision development.

Policy 5.1.3.2 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for potable water facilities and 
wastewater facilities where connection is available consistent with Policies 1.1.1.2 and 1.1.3.2. 
For the purposes of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one (1) dwelling unit per acre 
shall be deemed to be an urban density.

Analysis: The proposed rezoning is consistent with Comprehensive Plan policy to create 
urban densities or intensities in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for 
potable water and wastewater facilities.

Policy 5.2.2.3 – The City shall designate urban densities or intensities on the Future Land Use 
Map only in areas that have sufficient existing or planned capacity for sanitary sewer facilities and 
where connection is available as set forth in State law and City regulations. The City shall 
minimize the use of septic tanks in accordance with the provisions of Objective 5.2.3 and policies 
implementing that objective. For the purpose of this Plan, any residential density exceeding one 
(1) dwelling unit per acre shall be deemed to be an urban density.

Analysis: The proposed rezoning is consistent with Comprehensive Plan policy above to 
designate urban densities or intensities in areas that have sufficient existing or planned 
capacity for sanitary sewer facilities.

Policy 6.1.10.6 - The City shall protect its environmentally sensitive areas that include, but are not 
limited to, large interconnected wetland systems, by utilizing the Conservation land use 
designation. The Conservation land use designation, as well as the Preservation Zoning 
classification, shall be utilized by the City, as appropriate, for the purpose of protecting high quality 
wetlands, lakes, designated hammock areas and other environmentally sensitive areas.

159



Page 5                                                                                               Application # 4868

Analysis: Consistent with the companion FLUM amendment to designate 21 acres of high-
quality wetlands as Conservation on the FLUM map, the proposed zoning map amendment 
will designate the same 21 acres as Preservation on the Zoning Map. The proposal to 
designate the 21 acres as Preservation is consistent with Policy 6.1.10.6 .

C. The proposed development must not impose a significant financial liability or hardship for the 
City;

Staff Finding:  Potable water and sewer services are available to serve the project. Utility lines 
are available adjacent to the site.
 
D. The proposed development must not create an unreasonable hazard, or nuisance, or constitute 
a threat to the general health, welfare, or safety of the City’s inhabitants;

Staff Finding:  The proposed rezoning will be compatible with the overall neighborhood as it is 
located within an area of primarily residential uses and preserved lands. 

E. The proposed development must comply with all other applicable local, state and federal laws, 
statutes, ordinances, regulations, or codes.

Staff Finding: The subject property will be required to comply with the City’s Land Development 
Code, Comprehensive Plan, and the requirements of all other applicable local, state and federal 
agencies throughout the development process. 

ANALYSIS BASED ON UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, CHAPTER 2, SECTION 
2.06.03 
 The Unified Land Development Code, Chapter 2, Part II, Sec. 2.06.03 states: “The Planning and 
Land Development Regulation Board and City Council shall consider the following criteria, in 
addition to the findings listed in Subsection 2.05.05, when reviewing a rezoning application”:

A. Whether it is consistent with all adopted elements of the Comprehensive Plan and whether it 
furthers the goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan;

Staff Finding: As noted previously in the analysis prepared for LDC Chapter 2, Part II, Section 
2.05.05 of this staff report, the requested zoning district is in conformance with the 
Comprehensive Plan elements, and their goals, objectives and policies. 

B. Its impact upon the environment and natural resources;

Staff Finding:  Upon submittal of the subdivision master plan a thorough environmental analysis 
will be provided by the applicant and reviewed by applicable City staff and other governmental 
review agencies.  Additionally, there is no additional impact on the environment and natural 
resources since the development area of the subject property is not being expanded.

C.   Its impact on the economy of any affected area;

Staff Finding: Impacts to the Palm Coast economy are anticipated to be positive since the project 
will provide numerous construction jobs over the first few years and will provide additional tax 
revenues to the City. Additionally, the residential homes will increase demand for commercial 
services in reasonably close proximity to the site.
 
D. Its impact upon necessary governmental services such as schools, sewage disposal, potable 

water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste, or transportation;

160



Page 6                                                                                               Application # 4868

Staff Finding: The impact on the necessary governmental services including: wastewater, 
potable water, drainage, fire and police protection, solid waste and transportation systems will be 
covered by concurrency regulations and impact fees paid by the developer during the Preliminary 
Plat and construction drawing review process. 

E. Any changes in circumstances or conditions affecting the area;

Staff Finding:  Due to increasing housing costs and especially infrastructure costs typical lot 
sizes have shrunk over the last 10 – 20 years. Additionally, a strong demand exists for single-
family homes.
 
F. Compatibility with proximate uses and development patterns, including impacts to the health, 
safety, and welfare of surrounding residents;

Staff Finding:  As previously described the proposed rezoning will be compatible with the existing 
and future planned commercial uses in the overall neighborhood. Positive impacts should be 
created by the proposed project as it will create housing opportunity in a “planned community” 
which offers private amenities such as sidewalks and recreation areas. 

G. Whether it accomplishes a legitimate public purpose:

Staff Finding: The subject property is proposed via a FLUM Amendment to be located within the 
Residential designation on the FLUM and the proposed zoning district of SFR-1 is an allowable 
zoning district within that FLUM designation. Staff believes the site is very appropriate for the 
proposed residential community. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Unified Land Development Code Chapter 2, Part II, Section 2.05.02 requires developers or 
property owners who are requesting to rezone property within the City to notify neighboring 
property owners within 300 feet of the subject property boundaries and hold a neighborhood 
meeting. 

Staff will provide a summary of the neighborhood meeting at the PLDRB public hearing.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends that the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board (PLDRB) find the 
proposed rezoning (Application #4868) consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and recommend 
that City Council approve the rezoning of 141.5+/- acres from Planned Unit Development (PUD) 
to the Single-Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) and Preservation (PRS) zoning district.

161



Ordinance No. 2021-_____

Page 1 of 5

ORDINANCE 2021 - ____
GRAND RESERVE EAST ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 

(APPLICATION #4868)

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALM 
COAST, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE AMENDMENT OF THE 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AS ESTABLISHED IN SECTION 2.06 OF 
THE CITY OF PALM COAST UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE; AMENDING THE ZONING DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- 
ACRES, FROM FLAGLER COUNTY DESIGNATION OF PLANNED 
UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) TO CITY OF PALM COAST 
DESIGNATION OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1 (SFR-1) AND 
PRESERVATION (PRS); SUBJECT PROPERTY IS MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” AND 
GRAPHICALLY DEPICTED IN EXHIBIT “B”; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
NON-CODIFICATION AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE

WHEREAS, the City of Palm Coast, pursuant to the authority vested in Chapter 163 

and Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and the City of Palm Coast Unified Land Development Code, 

is authorized and empowered to consider applications relating to zoning; and 

WHEREAS, the notice and public hearing requirements, as provided for in Chapter 2 

(Review Authority, Enforcement, and Procedures) of the City of Palm Coast Unified Land 

Development Code have been satisfied; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palm Coast has considered the evidence 

and testimony presented by the applicant and other interested parties, the recommendations of 

the various City reviewing departments, and the recommendation of the Planning and Land 

Development Regulation Board (PLDRB); and

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the findings in the staff report and the 

following findings of fact:

1. The rezoning is consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and policies 

of the City of Palm Coast Comprehensive Plan;

2. The rezoning is compatible as defined in the Unified Land Development 

Code and generally consistent with the uses and character of the land 

surrounding and in the vicinity of the land proposed for rezoning;

162



Ordinance No. 2021-_____

Page 2 of 5

3. The rezoning will result in a logical, timely and orderly development pattern;

4. The staff report has demonstrated sufficient justification that there are 

changed circumstances, which would require the rezoning request. 

WHEREAS, the City now intends to change the zoning of the subject property from 

Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development (PUD) to City of Palm Coast 

designation of Single Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) and Preservation (PRS).

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA:

SECTION 1. Recitals.  The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are fully 

incorporated herein by this reference.

SECTION 2. Rezoning of Subject Property.  The zoning designations for the subject 

parcel is hereby changed from Flagler County designation of Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) to City of Palm Coast designations of Single Family Residential-1 (SFR-1) and 

Preservation (PRS). 

SECTION 3.  Conflicts.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this 

Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 4.  Severability.  It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council 

that the sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Code are severable, and if 

any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Code shall be declared 

unconstitutional by the valid judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction, such 

unconstitutionality shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs 

and sections of this Code.

SECTION 5.   Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately 

upon the effective date of Ordinance No. 2021-XX as adopted by the City Council of the City 

of Palm Coast, Florida, and pursuant to the City Charter.  If Ordinance No. 2021-XX does not 

become effective, then this Ordinance shall become null and void. 

APPROVED on first reading the ____ day of ________, 2021, at a public hearing.

163



Ordinance No. 2021-_____

Page 3 of 5

ADOPTED on the second reading the ____ day of ___________________ 2021, at a 

public hearing.

CITY OF PALM COAST, FLORIDA

                                                           _______________________________________

David Alfin, Mayor

ATTEST:

_______________________________

Virginia A. Smith, City Clerk

Approved as to form and legality                            

___________________________________

William E. Reischmann, Jr.

City Attorney

164



Ordinance No. 2021-_____

Page 4 of 5

EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

A PORTION OF SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 12 SOUTH, RANGE 31 EAST, FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
BEING A PORTION OF BUNNELL DEVELOPMENT COMPANY’S LAND AT BUNNELL FLORIDA, 

RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 1, PAGE 1, AND BEING A PORTION OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED AND 

RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1973, PAGE 339, ALL OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF SAID 

COUNTY, BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

FOR A POINT OF BEGINNING, COMMENCE AT THE SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF LOT 35, RIVER 

OAKS, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN MAP BOOK 27, PAGES 15 THROUGH 

17 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS, SAID CORNER LYING ON THE NORTHERLY LINE OF THOSE LANDS 

DESCRIBED AND RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 2092, PAGE 1226, OF SAID PUBLIC 

RECORDS; THENCE SOUTH 88°13’31” WEST, ALONG SAID NORTHERLY LINE, 42.48 FEET TO THE 

NORTHWESTERLY CORNER THEREOF; THENCE SOUTH 01°05’50” EAST, ALONG THE WESTERLY 

LINE THEREOF, AND ITS SOUTHERLY PROLONGATION, 1319.27 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY 

CORNER OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED AND RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 2027, 

PAGE 98 OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS; THENCE NORTH 88°58’17” EAST, ALONG THE SOUTHERLY 

LINE THEREOF, 456.54 FEET TO THE NORTHWESTERLY CORNER OF LOT 34, OF SAID RIVER OAKS; 

THENCE SOUTH 16°32’49” EAST, ALONG THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID RIVER OAKS, 1387.30 FEET 

TO THE NORTHEASTERLY CORNER OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED AS EAST PARCEL AND 

RECORDED IN SAID OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 1973, PAGE 339; THENCE SOUTH 88°27’11” WEST, 

ALONG THE NORTHERLY LINE THEREOF, 2017.46 FEET TO A POINT LYING ON THE EASTERLY 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF ROBERTS ROAD, AN 80 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY AS PRESENTLY 

ESTABLISHED, SAID POINT LYING ON A NON-TANGENT CURVE CONCAVE NORTHEASTERLY 

HAVING A RADIUS OF 1459.72 FEET; THENCE NORTHWESTERLY ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT 

OF WAY LINE AND ALONG THE ARC OF SAID CURVE, THROUGH A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 13°04’29”, 

AN ARC LENGTH OF 333.10 FEET TO A POINT ON SAID CURVE, SAID ARC BEING SUBTENDED BY 

A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF NORTH 28°56’25” WEST, 332.38 FEET; THENCE NORTH 

22°24’01” WEST, CONTINUING ALONG SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG A NON-

TANGENT LINE, 2403.92 FEET TO THE SOUTHWESTERLY CORNER OF THOSE LANDS DESCRIBED 

AND RECORDED IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 2093, PAGE 791, OF SAID PUBLIC RECORDS; 

THENCE NORTH 67°12’59” EAST, DEPARTING SAID EASTERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE AND ALONG 

THE SOUTHEASTERLY LINE OF LAST SAID LANDS, 2228.20 FEET TO THE SOUTHEASTERLY 

CORNER THEREOF, SAID CORNER LYING ON THE WESTERLY LINE OF SAID RIVER OAKS; 

THENCE SOUTH 16°46’29” EAST, ALONG SAID WESTERLY LINE, 710.04 FEET TO THE POINT OF 

BEGINNING.

CONTAINING 141.47 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

165



Ordinance No. 2021-_____

Page 5 of 5

EXHIBIT B
PROPOSED ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

166



Grand Reserve East

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Boundary

Map Provided by Planning Division
µ0 1,750 3,500875

Feet 167



P

C
PUD

REC

HC

R

GC

SFR-R1

PUD

IND

R-1

PUDC-2PUD

R-1B

R-1
R-1B

MPD

SFR-1

COM-2

MFR-2
COM-3

PRS

PSP

COM-1

C-2

Grand Reserve East - Existing Zoning

±
0 750 1,500375

Feet

Legend
Palm Coast City Limits

Grand Reserve East

Palm Coast Zoning
C-2

COM-1

COM-2

COM-3

IND-1

MFR-2

MPD

PRS

PSP

SFR-1

Flagler Zoning
C-2

IND

PUD

R-1

R-1B

Flagler Beach Zoning
C

GC

HC

P

PUD

R

REC

SFR-R1

Map Provided by Planning Division
168



P

C
PUD

REC

HC

SFR-R1

R

GC

IND

PUD

R-1

PUDC-2PUD

R-1B

R-1
R-1B

MPD

COM-2

COM-3
MFR-2

SFR-1

IND-1

PSP

PRS

COM-1

Grand Reserve East - Proposed Zoning

Legend

Palm Coast City Limits

Boundary

Palm Coast Zoning
Zone

COM-1

COM-2

COM-3

IND-1

MFR-2

MPD

PRS

PSP

PUD

SFR-1

Flagler Zoning
ZONECODE

C-2

IND

PUD

R-1

R-1B

Flagler Beach Zoning
ZONING_CO

C

GC

HC

P

PUD

R

REC

SFR-R1
Map Provided by Planning Division
µ

0 875 1,750437.5
Feet

169

JPapa
Text Box
SFR-1

JPapa
Text Box
PRS

JPapa
Text Box
PRS



City of Palm Coast, Florida
Agenda Item

Agenda Date: October 20, 2021

Department PLANNING Amount
Item Key 12264 Account 

#

Subject ELECTION OF A VICE CHAIR TO THE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIION BOARD

Presenter: Irene Schaefer, Recording Secretary

Background:
Since Mr. Robert DeMaria retired from the Planning and Land Development Regulation Board 
(PLDRB) in April 2021the position of Vice Chair has remained open.

Recommended Action:
Elect a Vice Chair to the PLDRB.

170


	0 AGENDA
	1 MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 15, 2021  PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATION BOARD MEETING
	2 STOUTENBURG BOATHOUSE ROOF VARIANCE - APPLICATION # 4870
	3 SABAL PALMS PHASE 2 - TECHNICAL SITE PLAN TIER 2 - APPLICATION # 4780
	4 REZONING GRAND LANDINGS NORTH - APPLICATION #4873
	5 AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- ACRES OF PROPERTY FROM RESIDENTIAL LOW-DENSITY AND CONSERVATION (COUNTY DESIGNATIONS) TO RESIDENTIAL AND CONSERVATION (CITY DESIGNATIONS) ALONG WITH POLICY TO LIMIT DEVELOPMENT TO 217UNITS
	6 AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DESIGNATION FOR 141.5+/- ACRES FROM COUNTY DESIGNATION OF PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) TO CITY DESIGNATION OF SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL-1 (SFR-1) AND PRESERVATION (PRS)
	7 ELECTION OF A VICE CHAIR TO THE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIION BOARD

	PROPOSED NUMBER OF LOTS: 
	MAP PANEL DATE: 06/06/2018
	COMMUNITY PANEL NUMBER: 120684
	OVERLAY DISTRICT: 
	FUTURE LAND USE MAP DESIGNATION: 
	PROPERTY SQ FT: 
	PROPERTY ACRES: 
	Email Address_9: 
	Phone Number_9: 
	Mailing Address_9: 
	Name_9: 
	Email Address_8: 
	Phone Number_8: 
	Mailing Address_8: 
	Name_8: 
	Email Address_7: 
	Phone Number_7: 
	Mailing Address_7: 
	Name_7: 
	Email Address_6: 
	Phone Number_6: 
	Mailing Address_6: 
	Name_6: 
	Email Address_5: 
	Phone Number_5: 
	Mailing Address_5: 
	Name_5: 
	Email Address_4: 
	Phone Number_4: 
	Mailing Address_4: 
	Name_4: 
	Email Address_3: 
	Phone Number_3: 
	Mailing Address_3: 
	Name_3: 


